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BoardSource envisions a world where every social sector organization has the 
leadership it needs to fulfill its mission and advance the public good. Our mission 
is to inspire and support excellence in nonprofit governance and board and staff 
leadership.

Established in 1988, BoardSource’s work is grounded in the fundamental belief that 
boards are critical to organizational success. With decades of hands-on experience 
working with and supporting nonprofit boards, BoardSource is the recognized 
leader in nonprofit governance and leadership, and a go-to resource for nonprofit 
board and executive leaders. BoardSource supports a broad and diverse cross-
section of social sector organizations with

• leadership initiatives addressing key opportunities and issues within the 
nonprofit sector

• research and benchmarking of board composition, practices, and performance
• membership and board support programs
• customized diagnostics and performance assessment tools
• a comprehensive library of topic papers, publications, and downloadable 

infographics, tools, templates, and more
• live and virtual education and training
• governance consultants who work directly with nonprofit leaders to design 

specialized solutions to meet an organization’s needs
• a biennial conference that brings together approximately 800 board leaders for 

two days of learning and sharing

 
BoardSource is a 501(c)(3) organization.

For more information, please visit our website at www.boardsource.org, e-mail us at 
mail@boardsource.org, or call us at 800-883-6262.

A note to our global readers: 
The need for effective board leadership and governance knows no geographic 
boundaries, and BoardSource is committed to strong social sector board leadership 
and governance around the globe. While BoardSource uses United States laws and 
policies as the legal framework for our resources and recommendations, most of our 
resources do not focus on legal matters but rather on good governance practices, 
making them relevant to organizations working outside of the United States. We do 
suggest, however, that you refer to applicable laws in your country regarding financial 
reporting and other legal and transparency issues.

file:///Users/susan/Documents/Freelance/Upwork/JasonLavinder/Financial-Responsibilities-3rd/www.boardsource.org
mailto:mail@boardsource.org
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ABOUT THE BOARDSOURCE  
GOVERNANCE SERIES 
BoardSource created the Governance Series, its flagship series, to 
help nonprofit board members understand their primary roles and 
responsibilities. BoardSource believes that board members and chief 
executives who know and understand their mutual responsibilities are 
better equipped to advance their organizations’ missions and, in turn, 
strengthen their communities.

WHY IS A STRONG BOARD IMPORTANT?
There’s no denying that the approximately 1.5 million nonprofit organizations 
in the United States play a vital role in society, from assisting victims of 
natural disasters to beautifying our neighborhoods, from educating our 
children to healing the sick. To ensure that their organizations have the 
resources, leadership, and oversight necessary to carry out these and other 
vital activities, nonprofit boards must understand and fulfill their governance 
responsibilities.

Although there have been headline-worthy scandals by a few nonprofits 
and their boards, most nonprofits try hard every day to be worthy of the 
public’s trust. Nevertheless, BoardSource frequently hears from nonprofit 
board members and chief executives who say that they are not always sure 
what the basic components of good governance are or how to educate every 
board member so they can serve their organizations and the public in the best 
possible manner. The Governance Series helps bridge this gap in knowledge.

Within the board’s broad roles of setting the organization’s direction, 
ensuring necessary resources, and providing oversight, board members wear 
many hats. They are guardians of the mission; they ensure compliance with 
legal and financial requirements; and they enforce ethical guidelines for their 
organization. They are policymakers, fundraisers, ambassadors, partners 
with the chief executive, and strategic thinkers. They monitor progress, 
evaluate the performance of the organization and the chief executive, and 
demonstrate integrity in everything they do on behalf of the organization. 
Because of their many roles, board members need more than enthusiasm 
for a cause, passion for a mission, or just “good intentions.” They need to 
understand all of their stewardship responsibilities and perform all of their 
duties, while remembering that it is the governing board that holds legal 
authority rather than individual board members. The chief executive is 
accountable and reports to the board only.
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About the BoardSource Governance Series  

WHAT WILL BOARD MEMBERS FIND IN THE  
GOVERNANCE SERIES?
The Governance Series addresses all of the fundamental elements of service 
common to most boards, including board member responsibilities, how to 
structure the board in the most efficient manner, and how to accomplish 
governance work in the spirit of the mission of the organization.

Ten Basic Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards describes the ten core areas of 
board responsibility.

Legal Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards elaborates on the board’s legal 
responsibilities, liabilities, and the oversight it should provide to protect the 
organization.

Financial Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards explains board fiduciary 
responsibilities in the areas of financial oversight and risk management.

Fundraising Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards helps board members 
understand why they should be actively engaged in ensuring adequate 
resources for the organization — and how to get involved in fundraising.

The Nonprofit Board’s Role in Mission, Planning, and Evaluation provides 
guidance on how to define and communicate the organization’s mission and 
link strategic planning and evaluation to achieve organizational success.

Structures and Practices of Nonprofit Boards focuses on how to build and 
structure the board (size, committees, term limits) and enhance leadership 
roles and the partnership between the chair and the chief executive.

Each book focuses on one topic, breaking information into manageable 
amounts that are easy to digest. Readers will find real-world examples that 
provide insight from effective boards, data from BoardSource research, 
glossaries, and resource lists for further reading. The authors of the books 
are subject-matter experts with years of experience in the nonprofit sector.

WHO SHOULD READ THE BOOKS?
Board members and senior staff, especially chief executives, in nonprofits 
of all types and sizes will find the information contained in the Governance 
Series relevant. You can use it to set standards, to develop your own 
approaches to board work and interacting with board members, and to 
modify practices as the organization evolves.

https://boardsource.org/product/ten-basic-responsibilities-nonprofit-boards/
https://boardsource.org/product/legal-responsibilities-nonprofit-boards/
https://boardsource.org/product/financial-responsibilities-nonprofit-boards/
https://boardsource.org/product/fundraising-responsibilities-nonprofit-boards/
https://boardsource.org/product/structures-practices-nonprofit-boards/
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About the BoardSource Governance Series  

There’s something in the Governance Series for everyone associated with 
the board. A board chair, for example, might share The Nonprofit Board’s Role 
in Mission, Planning, and Evaluation with board members before starting a 
strategic planning process or give Fundraising Responsibilities of Nonprofit 
Boards to the development committee. Chief executives will find it beneficial 
to give Financial Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards to the board treasurer 
and to review Ten Basic Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards and give it, 
along with Structures and Practices of Nonprofit Boards, to senior staff and 
the board chair to clarify board–chief executive roles and strengthen the 
partnership with the board. All board members will want to read Legal 
Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards so they understand how to protect 
themselves and their organization. The chair of the governance committee 
might give new board members all six books. This sharing helps ensure 
that everyone associated with the board is “on the same page” and has a 
common understanding of the board’s responsibilities, expectations, and 
activities.

Board service entails serious obligations, to be sure, but it can also deliver 
immense satisfaction. A board that knows what is expected of it and 
performs at the highest level is a strategic resource for its organization and 
chief executive. Ultimately, this commitment by dedicated board members 
translates into greater mission impact in the communities they serve.
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INTRODUCTION
You’ve accepted the invitation to serve on a board for a nonprofit organization 
dedicated to advancing a cause you’re passionate about. Now what? 

Board service comes with a host of responsibilities, including helping 
oversee the organization’s financial situation. This can be intimidating 
for those who do not have a strong financial background. Financial 
Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards will help you navigate through and 
prepare for the fiduciary and financial responsibilities that come with being a 
nonprofit board member.

We recommend you read the book before — or in conjunction with — 
joining a nonprofit board. Reading it before participating in board member 
orientation will allow you, along with your fellow board members and 
management, to dig deeper into the concepts in this book that relate 
specifically to your organization. 

Chapter 1 introduces you to your overall fiduciary responsibilities, 
the importance of financial literacy, the three most common financial 
committees, the role of the board treasurer, and the nature of the board’s 
relationship with staff when it comes to financial oversight. 

In Chapter 2, you’ll learn of the board’s role in budgeting and forecasting. 

Chapter 3 introduces you to nonprofit financial statements and generally 
accepted accounting principles for nonprofits. 

Chapter 4 focuses on the board’s role in overseeing an independent audit 
and reviewing your organization’s Form 990.   

Chapter 5 delves into risk management. 

Chapter 6 addresses the board policies and procedures that relate to 
financial oversight.    

Each chapter includes red flags to look for when exercising your financial 
responsibilities. We end the book with case studies, a glossary of financial 
terms, and a checklist to use when reviewing your organization’s Form 990. 

While financial information is not the only type of information used 
when making decisions for your nonprofit, it plays an important part in 
all important decisions, including those that may, at first glance, appear 
non-financial in nature. Armed with the knowledge presented in Financial 
Responsibilities of Nonprofit Boards, you, a decision maker, can better protect 
and enhance your organization’s capacity to serve your community.  



FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    13

CHAPTER 1
FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES OF  
BOARD MEMBERS

AN OVERVIEW
One of the central responsibilities of a nonprofit board is to maintain 
financial accountability of the organization. Board members act as trustees 
of the organization’s assets and must exercise due diligence and oversight 
to ensure that the assets are well managed, the organization has the funds 
it needs to operate effectively, and the organization’s financial situation 
remains sound. Board members are considered fiduciaries, which means 
they must stay objective and trustworthy and always act for the good of the 
organization. They need to exercise reasonable care in all decision making 
without placing the organization under unnecessary risk.

The board is responsible for ensuring that the organization meets legal 
requirements and operates in accordance with its mission and the purpose 
for which it was granted tax-exempt status by the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS). As guardians of a public trust, individual board members must exercise 
the duty of care as it relates to protecting the organization’s assets and 
ensuring the organization has the funds it needs to operate effectively. To do 
so, board members must attend meetings, be prepared to make informed 
decisions by reading the information provided and requesting more 
information if they need it, and carry out their duties in a reasonable and 
responsible manner.

The board, along with the chief executive1, should work to create and 
maintain a culture that considers financial oversight the responsibility of the 
entire board, receiving support from financial committees and the treasurer. 
Maintaining a culture of financial discipline is key to an organization’s 
success.

IMPORTANCE OF FINANCIAL LITERACY
All board members need to invest in learning about financial matters so 
they can fulfill their fiduciary responsibilities. They need to develop financial 
literacy — the skills and knowledge that help them understand, analyze,  

1 BoardSource uses the term “chief executive” to refer to the person holding the top staff or man-
agement position in a nonprofit. Some nonprofits refer to this person as the executive director, 
president, or CEO.
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Fiduciary Responsibilities of Board Members 

and ask questions about the financial information they receive. Every 
board member does not have to be a financial expert, but all should be 
knowledgeable enough to comprehend the financial statements and identify 
risk areas. And all board members should feel comfortable asking questions 
until they completely understand the organization’s financial condition. 
There are no wrong questions related to financial oversight.

One challenge new board members face is learning about business and 
financial considerations that relate specifically to nonprofit organizations. 
These concepts are introduced and explained throughout this book. Keep 
in mind that even the most sophisticated financial professionals in the for-
profit sector may experience a learning curve if they are new to nonprofits. 
Some of these financial concepts are unique to nonprofits, while others 
may be approached differently in the nonprofit context. (The Glossary of 
Financial Terms on page 91 is a useful reference.)

Every board should make financial literacy a high priority. Board orientation 
should feature financial literacy training as an essential component of an 
ongoing learning process presented by the board treasurer, chief executive, 
chief financial officer, or other senior staff, depending on the financial 
experience of board members. This training should include but not be 
limited to a review of the following topics:

• At least the three most recent annual audits, governance and 
management letters, and IRS Form 990s

• The most recent financial statements and dashboards
• The annual operating budget
• All financial concepts unique to nonprofits and relating to the 

organization 
Continuing education helps strengthen the board’s financial literacy by 
reviewing topics in greater depth and gives board members opportunities 
to refresh their knowledge. Board retreats, dedicated segments of regular 
board meetings, and small-group sessions are all useful ways to explore 
nonprofit finance more deeply. The board’s governance committee also has 
a role in enhancing financial literacy by recruiting some board members with 
financial acumen who can mentor their colleagues.

FINANCIAL COMMITTEE ROLES
To manage their responsibilities and ongoing activities, most boards create 
standing committees. Committees enable board members to perform 
critical tasks and functions as small groups, often between full board 
meetings, in an efficient and meaningful manner.
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Fiduciary Responsibilities of Board Members 

The size and complexity of an organization will determine the configuration 
of financial committees. For very small and very large organizations, the 
dividing lines will be clear. Small organizations often cover both core and 
non-core duties with a single finance committee. Larger organizations, on 
the other hand, usually have more people and more resources to support 
additional committees responsible for further duties. Stand-alone audit and 
investment committees are typical in these cases. In general, when the task 
grows too big for a single financial committee to complete in an effective 
manner, it is time for multiple committees to provide added accountability.

Finance Committee
Oversee financial planning
During the strategic planning process, the finance committee participates in 
the analysis of the external and internal environments, which determines the 
organization’s future course. During the budgeting process, it works closely 
with senior financial staff to ensure that the process is efficient, the key 
elements of the strategic plan or framework are addressed, and previous 
decisions are properly interpreted in the budget’s numbers. The committee 
then reviews and approves the budget before it goes to the full board for 
approval.

Ensure the protection of assets
If the board does not have an investment committee, the finance committee 
oversees investment of the reserves or endowment and ensures that a 
system of internal control is in place. The committee also provides oversight 
over the banks or financial institutions that the organization uses, making 
certain there is appropriate monitoring of FDIC coverage, controls around 
banking procedures are in place, and that the organization is monitoring 
service fees, interest earned, and the like.

Provide risk management oversight (in the absence of an audit 
committee)
Because organization-wide risk management plans and policies are essential 
to success, risk management is the responsibility of the full board, not a 
single committee. But one committee should be charged with overseeing 
the implementation of and adherence to these plans and policies. If there is 
no stand-alone audit committee, the finance committee is that group.

Draft organizational fiscal policies
Fiscal policies serve as guidelines — and protection — for board and staff 
as they address the numerous complicated and routine questions relating 
to the organization’s financial management. The challenge for the finance 
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Fiduciary Responsibilities of Board Members 

committee is to know where to draw the line between everyday procedures 
and overall organizational policies. The finance committee and board have 
no need to get involved in defining processes for staff, but the committee 
should draft policies for board approval that address acceptable reserves, 
investments, the board’s involvement in signing major purchases or financial 
commitments, and appropriate use of board-designated funds (see Chapter 
6 for a review of typical policies).

Anticipate financial problems
Committee members who can understand the potential influence of the 
external fiscal environment are in an advantageous position to guide the 
board’s fiscal decision making. The use of financial scenario planning as 
a risk management tool, as outlined in Chapter 5, will help the finance 
committee identify external risks facing the organization.

Ensure accuracy and efficiency of financial management
The finance committee is responsible for assessing the reliability of the 
information being produced by the financial staff. Does it exist? Is it timely? Is 
it helpful? Does it hold up over time? Is it sensible? The committee should also 
assume the functions of the audit committee if there is not one in place. As 
emphasized in Chapter 4, communication with the external auditor is essential.

Help the full board understand the organization’s financial health 
The finance committee is a communication channel to the rest of the board, 
translating complicated financial data into meaningful terms that can be 
understood by those less familiar with financial jargon and that will in turn 
inform their decision making. Effective methods include using graphics 
(such as dashboards) instead of or in addition to numbers; talking about 
the implications of a report, not just describing its contents; and linking 
the financial health of the organization with its goals and strategies. When 
reviewing financial statements, look for potential red flags that might affect 
the organization’s ability to provide adequate funding for planned budgeted 
activities. They could be signs of financial problems or distress.

Sustain the financial committee itself
Working with the governance committee, the finance committee should take 
board recruitment seriously and reserve the necessary time to recruit and 
then train financially savvy board members.

Audit Committee
If the board does not have a separate audit committee, the finance 
committee assumes all of the following responsibilities:
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Fiduciary Responsibilities of Board Members 

Manage the audit process and the relationship with the independent 
auditor
This is the audit committee’s most important function. The committee 
selects the audit firm and reviews and approves the scope of the 
audit. It engages with the independent auditor, meeting with the 
firm’s representatives without staff present — an extremely important 
responsibility that should not be overlooked (see Chapter 4). The committee 
also ensures compliance with all federal, state, local, and other regulatory 
reporting requirements.

Operate independently from the finance committee
Audit committee members should be “independent” directors with expertise 
in financial matters. 

Independence in this regard relates to having board members — rather than 
employees of the nonprofit or the audit firm — serve on the committee. 
Committee members need to be free from outside control or influence. 

Furthermore, when a board has an audit committee, BoardSource 
recommends that it not share members, if possible, with the finance 
committee. The duties of the audit and finance committees should be 
segregated. This practice shows how seriously the organization takes 
the independence of board members and how strongly it considers an 
independent audit as the ultimate form of oversight. If the committees 
must share members because the board is small or has a limited number 
of members with accounting and financial expertise, it is strongly 
recommended that the same person not chair both committees so as to 
minimize potential conflicts between them.

On such boards, it is also acceptable for non-board members with this 
needed expertise to serve on the audit committee. However, they must not 
participate in the committee’s formal deliberations or voting — activities that 
are reserved for independent board members. Staff who are responsible for 
developing and maintaining financial controls should not serve on the audit 
committee.

Provide risk management oversight
One way that the audit committee provides oversight and ensures the 
protection of assets is to provide risk management oversight. It is important to 
emphasize that an intentional focus on an organization-wide risk management 
plan and policy is essential to organizational success and sustainability (see 
Chapter 5). The audit committee does not need to own all aspects of risk 
management, as that is an overall board responsibility, but one committee 
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should be charged with oversight of the implementation and adherence to 
the plan and policy. It typically makes sense for that group to be the audit 
committee — or the finance committee, if there is no audit committee.

Investment Committee
A separate investment committee is only necessary when an organization 
has sizable reserves, manages a significant planned giving program, or has 
an endowment that needs special attention. The investment committee 
is an oversight committee that sets direction and guidelines for action, 
including drafting investment policies and ideally hiring an independent 
investment manager who reports out to the committee. In most situations, 
it is not advisable for committee members to perform actual investment 
management tasks, as this could create perceived — or actual — conflict-of-
interest situations. The committee should work with a combination of the 
chief executive, chief financial officer, and/or an external investment advisor 
to ensure adherence to the approved investment policy.

ROLE OF THE BOARD TREASURER
As an officer of the organization, the treasurer provides the highest level of 
financial oversight. While the treasurer’s duties can vary depending on the 
size of the nonprofit, the position has these core responsibilities:

• Attend all board meetings.
• Maintain knowledge of the organization and personal commitment to its 

goals and objectives.
• Ensure existence of, and adherence to, current financial policies and 

procedures.
• Understand financial accounting for nonprofit organizations.
• Serve as chair of the finance committee.
• Manage, with the finance committee, the board’s review of and action 

related to the board’s financial responsibilities.
• Work with the chief executive and the chief financial officer to ensure 

that appropriate financial reports are made available to the board on a 
timely basis.

• Present the annual budget to the board for approval.
• Review the annual audit and answer board members’ questions about 

the audit (if there is no audit committee).
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THE BOARD AND THE FINANCIAL STAFF
The board’s financial oversight responsibilities fall heavily on the designated 
financial committees. In the optimal situation, an organization has a chief 
financial officer reporting to the chief executive officer, and committee 
members collaborate with both staff members to perform oversight duties 
effectively. The chief financial officer oversees all staff activities relating 
to financial issues, is the key person to move the annual budget into the 
finance committee’s hands, and ensures that accurate and timely financial 
statements reach the full board regularly. To avoid micromanagement, the 
board should not perform transactional functions. That said, in some very 
small organizations with no financial staff, the financial committees or other 
board members may need to be involved in approving transactions or 
developing the budget, but board members need to understand that their 
ultimate responsibility is to be fiduciaries.
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A BOARD MEMBER’S PRIMER ON NONPROFIT STATUS
The nonprofit sector in the United States is larger than many people realize. 
According to the National Center for Charitable Statistics, there are more than 1.5 
million registered nonprofits, including public charities, private foundations, and 
other types of nonprofit organizations.

Although being a nonprofit and being a tax-exempt organization are closely related 
concepts, there is a difference. Nonprofit refers to a business model in which there 
are no ownership interests. Any excess income is reinvested in the organization and 
used to further the purpose for which the organization was formed, so there is no 
distribution of surplus to any external parties. Nonprofit organizations may make 
a profit, or surplus, but making money is not their reason for existing. They exist to 
serve the public, the common good. Nonprofit status is determined at the state 
level. 

Tax exemption is a designation given by the IRS and means that the organization is 
not subject to corporate federal and state income taxes on income generated from 
activities substantially related to the purposes for which the entity was organized. 
A nonprofit organization is not automatically exempt from federal or state income 
taxes. Nonprofits must apply and meet certain state and IRS requirements to 
become tax exempt. To apply for federal tax exemption, the organization must 
already have been granted nonprofit status by the state in which it was formed.

Close to 30 types of organizations are tax exempt under Section 501(c) of the 
federal tax code. However, donors who itemize their income tax deductions may 
receive a deduction for their contributions to only a few 501(c) groups, with 
the best known being 501(c)(3). The following are the most common 501(c) 
classifications:

•	 501(c)(3): Charitable, religious, educational, scientific, and literary 
organizations

•	 501(c)(4): Social welfare organizations and civic leagues

•	 501(c)(6): Business leagues, trade associations, and chambers of 
commerce

•	 501(c)(7): Social and recreational clubs

IRS Publication 557 relates to tax-exempt status and has a handy reference chart 
that lists IRS code numbers, organization description, general nature of activities, 
application form required, annual return required, and an indication of whether 
contributions are allowable.
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CHAPTER 2
BUDGETS AND FORECASTS 
A nonprofit’s annual operating plan serves as a framework for the fiscal 
year by specifying how the organization’s goals and activities will be carried 
out. In other words, it is the functional implementation of the strategic 
plan or framework. Presented as part of the operating plan, the budget is 
supported by a narrative that explains how the plan will help achieve the 
vision, mission, and objectives set forth in the overall strategic direction of 
the organization. If an organization does not have a strategic plan, the first 
course of business would be to develop one. An organization typically starts 
the fiscal year with the approved budget as its guide. But sometimes, things 
change and alter previous expectations. Forecasts provide a continuous 
picture of financial activity over the course of the fiscal year, keeping the 
board and management informed of financial projections that differ from 
the approved budget. Both budgets and forecasts are essential oversight 
tools for board members as they focus on their fiduciary responsibilities.

An annual operating plan has the following components:

• Operating budget stating revenues and expenses (by program if 
multiple programs exist), with expenses broken out by type — program, 
management and general, and fundraising

• Capital budget relating to the organization’s financial position
• Cash flow projections incorporating both operational and capital budget 

items
• Budget narrative explaining the assumptions included in the financial 

statements and their connection to the execution of the strategic plan
• Operating ratios for key areas meaningful to the organization (for example, 

percent of program service revenue versus contributed revenue) 
If the organization wishes to build up its operating reserves, there should be 
an item in the budget that reflects this decision.

BUDGET PROCESS AND TIMELINE
The first step in the development of a comprehensive annual operating plan 
is to establish a process and timeline. This structure ensures that appropriate 
thought and time are devoted to this important task, while providing a way 
to measure progress. The budget process should start at least three months 
before the end of the current fiscal year. The timeline should accommodate a 
thorough review by the finance committee and the board.
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Typically, an organization’s management and staff will be charged with the 
development of the annual operating plan, including the budget, as they 
are the key players in the day-to-day execution of the strategic plan. Using 
an income-based model to compile the budget, the organization might 
start with predictable revenue for the upcoming year and then budget for 
expenses so it does not exceed the anticipated revenue. Or, using a zero-
based model, the organization starts from the ground up. For example, if 
there are multiple program areas, each program manager is responsible 
for producing budget assumptions for revenue and expenses related to a 
specific program. The assumptions are then consolidated into an overall 
organizational budget, and the management team works to balance the 
budget so it fits within the framework and financial parameters of the 
strategic plan. Whatever approach the organization takes, it is important for 
the budgeting process to be a collaborative effort that supports the strategic 
plan while boosting staff buy-in and accountability.

BUDGET SURPLUS AND DEFICITS
A common misconception is that nonprofits cannot make a profit. While it is 
true that they cannot distribute surplus income, there is nothing preventing 
them from having positive net income. Nonprofits often use surplus revenue 
to build up reserves to protect them for potential hard times, or they 
reinvest the surplus into their program activities. Budgets do not necessarily 
have to balance or break even. It is perfectly acceptable to have a budget 
with a surplus, and sometimes even a deficit. If an organization decides that 
it has sufficient reserves, it may decide that a year-end deficit is appropriate 
because it will be able to cover the deficit with reserves.

CAPITAL BUDGETS 
In addition to an annual operating budget, most organizations need to 
develop and abide by a capital budget. While the operating budget reflects 
the planned revenues and expenses for the year, the capital budget relates 
to the organization’s financial position (see the description of balance 
sheets in Chapter 3). A capital budget sets objectives related to items 
such as cash balances, organizational debt, asset purchases and disposals 
relating to equipment, buildings, and investment balances and reserves. 
Both the annual operating budget and the capital budget are functional 
implementations of the strategic plan.



FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    23

Budgets and Forecasts 

Budgets that relate to a specific program, project, or grant are necessary in 
many instances, but they are typically the responsibility of management to 
create and monitor, as long as they fall within the parameters of the overall 
organizational budget.

BUDGET REVISIONS
When should an approved budget be revised? The answer is usually that 
it shouldn’t be, except in rare circumstances. Rather than revising the 
budget, it is generally better to keep the approved budget and use forecast 
modeling to track actual and anticipated results with the most up-to-date 
information available (see page 24 for more about forecasts). But if a major 
error is discovered or a serious unforeseen situation arises after the board 
has approved the annual budget, consideration could be given to revising 
it. This should only happen if the approved budget is no longer useful. The 
revised budget should then go through the same approval process as the 
original one.

THE BOARD’S ROLE IN THE ANNUAL OPERATING PLAN AND 
BUDGET 
The board is charged with ensuring that the annual operating plan aligns 
with the framework of the strategic plan so there is a direct correlation 
between the priorities and initiatives in the strategic plan and the operating 
plan. As a board member, your review and approval responsibilities include 
the following:

• Be certain that an annual budgeting process and timeline exists and is 
documented.

• Review the annual operating plan to ensure that it fits within the 
strategic plan and reflects realistic expectations about the coming year’s 
performance.

• Understand where revenues are projected to come from and how 
diversified the revenue streams are, particularly if your organization 
relies heavily on grants and contributions.

• Compare the proposed operating plan to previous plans, financial 
results, and forecasts, which will help identify potential red flags related 
to either accuracy or misalignments with the strategic plan.

• Be aware of trends and uncertainties in the nonprofit sector that may 
affect the coming year’s anticipated performance.
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• Inquire about and understand any vulnerability in the operating plan 
(see Chapter 5 for more about risk management). Although all of the 
above responsibilities are critical, this one is the most critical and should 
not be undervalued. The board must recognize potential exposures and 
risk areas so that it will not be taken by surprise if the actual financial 
performance differs significantly from what was in the plan. A key 
question to ask and understand is how vulnerabilities will be addressed 
if they arise during the year.

COMMITTEE AND BOARD APPROVAL
The finance committee approves the annual operating plan using the above 
criteria and recommends it to the full board for approval. The board will take 
the finance committee’s vote or recommendation into consideration, review 
the plan, and approve it when all members are comfortable it is complete 
and in alignment with the strategic plan.

It is important to remember that not everyone on the board will feel as 
comfortable with understanding the financials as others. Financial literacy 
training goes a long way toward helping board members understand and 
interpret financial statements, including the annual budget. As part of your 
fiduciary oversight responsibilities, it is essential to have a high level of 
understanding and confidence in the budget that you vote to approve.

AFTER BOARD APPROVAL
The oversight process does not stop once the budget and operating plan 
have been approved. Board members should expect to receive and have the 
opportunity to review financial statements that compare actual results to 
the approved budget, as well as a forecast with current financial projections. 
You should monitor the differences between the actual and budgeted 
results and evaluate and fully understand significant variations. If you don’t 
fully understand something, keep asking questions until you do. This point 
cannot be overemphasized. As explained in Chapter 3, board members 
should receive timely financial statements — ideally a monthly dashboard 
report and, at least quarterly, statements of financial position, activities, and 
cash flows.

USING FORECASTS
The board-approved budget is a static document against which actual 
financial results are compared over the course of the fiscal year with 
variances analyzed and explained. It is developed with the best information 
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available at the beginning of a fiscal year. Using forecasts, an organization 
can revise its financial projections based on more up-to-date information 
acquired continuously throughout the year. For example, if a long-time 
funder decides mid-year not to support the organization as assumed, 
the revenue shortfall should be factored into the financial forecast, and 
management should determine how to address the gap.

In addition to short-term forecasts for the current fiscal year, management 
should prepare multiyear forecasts that are less detailed but incorporate 
the fundamental financial assumptions of the strategic plan. For example, 
if you are on the board of a membership organization with a strategic plan 
assuming a 5-percent increase in the total number of members served over 
the next three years, the long-term forecast should incorporate that increase 
in revenue and also look at other revenue areas, expenses, and capital 
needs. The finance committee and management should discuss the number 
of years to project in a multiyear forecast. If the financial staff does not have 
the expertise to prepare forecasts, it should consider outsourcing this work. 
Consulting and accounting firms that specialize in nonprofit accounting can 
handle the organization’s all-around accounting needs.

Since forecasts are not usually exact, the organization should consider using 
three forecast models: an optimistic version, a conservative version, and 
a most-likely version. Several models will allow you to see best-case and 
worst-case scenarios and gauge how either would affect the organization 
financially and programmatically.

If management and staff are equipped to produce forecasts, there is no 
reason for board members to get involved. You should, however, ensure 
that forecast scenarios are being done in a timely manner and updated 
regularly and that the appropriate financial committee — finance or audit — 
is comfortable with them. If you are not a committee member, you should at 
least be aware and confident that the forecast process is being performed.
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NONPROFIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial statements are formal written records of an organization’s financial 
activities and position. They give the board the information it needs to 
identify financial strengths and weaknesses. Management is responsible for 
creating financial statements, which are typically produced for the month 
just ended as well as for the year to date. Year-to-date statements provide 
valuable reference points and allow the board to see how well actual results 
are following projected assumptions. At year-end, the year-to-date figures 
reflect the accumulation of the previous 12 months of transaction activities 
applied to the balance sheet and income statement.

To provide appropriate financial oversight, board members must have a 
broad understanding of how to read financial statements. Every nonprofit’s 
financial statements are different, and they are rarely black and white. It 
is therefore important to become familiar with your own organization’s 
financials and how they are presented. You do not need expertise in 
accounting or finance to do so. The financial literacy training that all board 
members receive as part of their board orientation should include a review 
of the types of financial statements usually distributed to the board along 
with the time frame in which to expect them. With the right guidance, 
you will gain a solid grasp of the organization’s financial activities and 
position and be able to identify and assess trends, potential risk areas, and 
opportunities. If you notice a red flag that may indicate trouble or a matter 
to be scrutinized further, be sure to ask about it, and do not stop asking until 
you are comfortable in your understanding of the answer.

AN OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Four financial statements are required by the generally accepted accounting 
principles for nonprofits (U.S. GAAP) recognized by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB):2

• Statement of financial position (balance sheet)
• Statement of activities (income statement)
• Statement of cash flows
• Statement of functional expenses 

2  FASB Accounting Standards Update: Not-for-Profit Entities, Financial Accounting Standards Board, 
August 2016 (effective December 15, 2017). http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Document_C/Document-
Page?cid=1176168381847&acceptedDisclaimer=true

http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Document_C/DocumentPage?cid=1176168381847&acceptedDisclaimer=true
http://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Document_C/DocumentPage?cid=1176168381847&acceptedDisclaimer=true
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In addition to the financial statements required under U.S. GAAP, an 
organization may choose to prepare supplemental schedules specific to its 
operations — such as reports related to investments, grant tracking, and 
details of accounts payable and/or receivable — for the finance committee 
and/or the board.

Be sure you know whether the financials you are receiving are prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. If they are not, ask for a reconciliation so you 
can understand any differences. There should be no surprises when you 
receive the audited financial statements at the end of the fiscal year.

Comparative financial statements are a complete set of financial statements 
that reflect more than one accounting period, so that trends can be 
identified, analyzed, and understood. Looking at just one year of data is 
not enough when trying to understand an organization’s overall financial 
health and predict future performance. Typically, the audited financials 
will show two years of data for comparison purposes. At a minimum, the 
board should review the comparative statements included in the audit. The 
board may also want to see more than two years of data for a particular 
reason, and if so, it is reasonable to request that information from the chief 
executive or chief financial officer or equivalent. For example, a board may 
be contemplating the continuation of a particular program and need several 
years of data related to financial performance to aid in its decision making.

As a board member, you should not expect to receive all of these statements 
every month. On a monthly basis, you should receive a summary of your 
organization’s financial activities and position, presented as a dashboard or 
visual display (see page 40). At least on a quarterly basis, you should receive 
and review a full set of financials. If the monthly dashboard report is detailed 
enough, it can replace the statement of functional expenses for internal 
financial review by the board. For fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2017, all nonprofits, regardless of type, are required to produce a statement 
of functional expenses as part of their audited financial statements.

Some organizations choose to present interim financial statements to the 
board that are not in accordance with U.S. GAAP. An organization that 
receives multiyear restricted grants, for example, may want to inform its 
board about progress against those grants and may follow this practice. It is 
acceptable as long as the board understands the purpose of interim financial 
statements and knows what to expect on the year-end audited financial 
statements. To avoid year-end surprises, management should provide a 
reconciliation between the interim and audited financials and projections.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
(BALANCE SHEET)
The statement of financial position is the nonprofit term for what is 
otherwise known as the balance sheet. It shows the financial condition of an 
organization at a given point in time. In other words, it is a snapshot of the 
organization’s assets, liabilities, and net assets (the nonprofit term for equity) 
as of a certain date, such as the last date of the month, quarter, or year. The 
statement of financial position reflects the cumulative effect of a nonprofit’s 
financial activity since its inception. Although you do not have to be an 
accountant to understand financial statements, one fundamental accounting 
concept that underlies the balance sheet is this: 

Assets minus liabilities equals net assets, or equity.

In other words, what you “own” minus what you “owe” equals your net 
assets.

Assets
Assets are things of value that an organization owns or from which it derives 
benefits. They are typically listed in order of decreasing liquidity, which 
means how quickly they can be converted into cash. Cash is usually listed 
first, followed by such items as investments, accounts and grants receivable, 
prepaid expenses, inventory, and physical property (land or buildings). This 
list of assets is not meant to be inclusive, as nonprofits have many business 
models that may have other types of assets.

Liabilities
Liabilities are the financial debt or obligations of an organization — what 
the organization “owes” and/or holds on behalf of others. Typically, people 
think of liabilities as money that is owed to vendors, banks, and employees 
for services performed. It is important to note, however, that liabilities also 
include services or goods someone has paid for in advance. For example, 
a membership organization that receives dues payments in full for a 
subsequent period has an obligation to provide member services for the 
time period of the membership. Another example of a liability that you might 
see on a nonprofit balance sheet is deferred registration revenue, which 
represents amounts received in advance for a conference, training, or other 
event. If the event were to be cancelled, the organization would be obligated 
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to return the money paid for the registration, and thus it is shown on the 
statement of financial position as a liability.

An organization often will choose to use what is referred to as a classified 
statement of financial position, which means it separates short-term and 
long-term assets and liabilities. Short-term assets are available as cash in 
one year or less; the availability of long-term assets as cash exceeds one 
year. Short-term liabilities are amounts and/or obligations due in the next 
year; long-term liabilities are not due for more than a year. A classified 
balance sheet can be helpful in clarifying and understanding the nature of an 
organization’s assets and liabilities. It is important to understand short-term 
liabilities and know the organization’s ability to pay for them.

Net Assets
Net assets are the difference between assets and liabilities. They are 
frequently referred to as the equity of the organization, or its net worth or 
value. Many nonprofits depend on the generosity of donors to fund their 
operations and advance their missions. When individuals contribute to 
a nonprofit, they will sometimes place restrictions on how and/or when 
their gifts might be used. Under new reporting regulations for net asset 
classification issued by the FASB (Finance Accounting Standards Board) — 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 — nonprofits 
are required to break out net assets into a minimum of two classifications: 
net assets with donor restrictions and net assets without donor restrictions. 
Footnote disclosures are required to include the nature and timing of the 
restrictions as well as the composition of net assets with donor restrictions 
at the end of the period.

Net assets without donor restrictions are neither temporarily nor permanently 
restricted. If the board chooses to designate net assets for a specific 
purpose, these are still deemed unrestricted for purposes of financial 
reporting. They should either be labeled as board-designated net assets in 
the “without donor restrictions” section of the net assets on the statement 
of financial position or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Net assets with donor restrictions result from contributions received 
with donor-imposed restrictions that may be temporary or permanent. 
Nonprofits often receive funding or a contributed asset from a donor 
who says that the money must be used for a particular program or spent 
in a specified time period. These restrictions are temporary until they are 
used for their intended purpose or spent within the stated time period. 
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Sometimes a donor gives a permanent investment to the organization that 
will in turn provide the nonprofit with interest and investment returns to 
be used as the donor intends. These restrictions are permanent, and the 
original gift must remain intact in perpetuity. An example is a scholarship 
fund that uses investment income for scholarships, never touching the 
principal.

The concept of net assets with donor restrictions is unique to nonprofits, 
so the financial staff or outsourced professional who prepares the 
financial statements and tracks restricted gifts must understand nonprofit 
accounting. Nonprofit expertise is important not only for proper financial 
oversight, but for meeting the legal responsibility to abide by all donor-
imposed restrictions. If the organization does not comply with the 
restrictions, the donor can request return of the funds and/or asset and may 
also take legal action.

For a sample statement of financial position as well as some key ratios 
to help analyze your nonprofit’s financial position, refer to Welcome to 
Your Key Financial Statements: A Primer for Nonprofit Board Members (see 
Recommended Resources).

Red Flags to Look For
• Small cash balances — The organization could be cash starved and 

unable to fund its day-to-day activities properly.
• Large accounts receivable balances in relation to program revenue — There 

could be a collection problem and/or negligence in the handling of 
receivables.

• Negative net assets — The nonprofit owes more than it owns, which 
signals a problematic financial position.

• Negative assets without donor restrictions — The nonprofit is using 
restricted funds for purposes the donor did not intend, with potentially 
serious negative ramifications.

• Significant liability for payroll taxes — The amount will vary, but if the 
liability is greater than .5 percent to 1 percent of total annual payroll 
expenses, the organization may be behind on payroll taxes, which is of 
serious concern.

• No accounts receivables or payables listed — The financials are either 
prepared on the cash basis (which is not in compliance with U.S. GAAP) 
or they are incorrect. (The cash basis method of accounting is defined 
on page 40.)
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES (INCOME STATEMENT)
The statement of activities shows the revenues and expenses of an 
organization for a designated period — for example, the six months ending 
June 30, 2017, or the year ended December 31, 2017. The statement of 
activities and the statement of financial position are related in that the 
statement of activities shows the change in net assets over a period of time, 
which then increases or decreases the net assets shown in the statement of 
financial position.

An easier way to understand this relationship is to think about how it relates 
to your own financial position. Everything that you own and owe — such as 
your bank accounts, house, car, mortgage, and car loans — makes up your 
personal statement of financial position, and what you have left over is your 
net worth (assets minus liabilities). Everything you earn and spend in say a 
year’s time is your statement of activities. If you earn more than you spend 
that year, your net assets — or net worth — on your statement of financial 
position will increase, and vice versa.

Revenue
Contributions are unconditional, nonreciprocal transfers of cash or other 
assets by a person or entity to a qualified tax-exempt organization (or a 
settlement or cancellation of its liabilities). Contributions include gifts of 
money, property, the use of property, unconditional promises to make 
gifts in the future, bequests, and donated services if they meet the criteria 
for recording. They are categorized to ensure accountability to donors as 
follows:

• Net assets without donor restrictions — If a donor does not specify a 
restriction on their contribution, it is recorded as a net asset without 
donor restrictions and is available for general use.

• Net assets with donor restrictions — Temporary restrictions apply to the 
use or time frame of a contribution. Permanent restrictions state that the 
contribution must be maintained in perpetuity. (See page 29 for more 
about this asset category.) 

• In-kind donations and donated services — Contributions that are not 
money, but donations of goods or services. Specialized accounting rules 
and conditions relate to recording contributed goods and services in 
the financials, once again emphasizing the need for the preparer to be 
skilled in nonprofit accounting rules (see sidebar).
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Program service revenue (earned) results from an exchange transaction where 
the nonprofit provides services or goods to a person and/or entity that has 
a substantial causal relationship to the organization’s tax-exempt purpose 
— meaning that the activities generating the revenue contribute significantly 
to accomplishing the organization’s tax-exempt purpose. If not, the revenue 
may constitute unrelated business revenue. Examples of program service 
revenue are registration fees, sales of goods or merchandise related to 
the mission, tuition, admission fees, membership dues, and income from 
governmental agencies for providing goods or services.

Other revenue includes, but is not limited to, the following:

• Investment income, such as interest, dividends, and gains on 
investments

• Rental income from an entity or person
• Royalty payments received in exchange for the right to use intellectual 

property or physical assets pursuant to a royalty agreement

Net assets released from restrictions refer to the transfer of funds to net 
assets without donor restrictions because the restrictions have been 
satisfied during the period of the statement of activities. This item will be a 
positive amount in the “without donor restrictions” column, and a negative 
amount in the “with donor restrictions” column.

The statement of activities must be presented in column format, with, at 
a minimum, columns for net assets with donor restrictions and net assets 
without donor restrictions. The organization may present more columns if 
desired, as long as these two classifications are included. A typical example 
would be segregating the column for net assets without donor restrictions 
into board-designated and non–board designated net assets.
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TYPES OF REVENUE UNIQUE TO NONPROFITS
If you are new to the nonprofit sector, you will encounter several types of revenue 
that are unique to nonprofits. Board members need to ensure that management 
and staff understand and follow the specific rules and practices for dealing with 
these revenues in the financial statements. See the Glossary of Financial Terms, 
page 91, for definitions of each concept.

Donated Services and In-Kind Donations

Mechanisms must be in place to identify and track both types of donations, 
because failure to account properly for them can result in misstated or distorted 
financial statements. A nonprofit can consult with its auditors for assistance on 
how to account for these donations in the financial statements. In-kind donations 
must also be reported on the organization’s IRS Form 990 (see Chapter 4). Donated 
services are not included on Form 990 itself but are shown as a reconciling item to 
the financial statements on supplemental Schedule D to Form 990.

Promises to Give 

Promises to give, or pledges, typically are not recorded in the financials without 
written support or documentation of the pledge from the donor, but they can be 
oral agreements to contribute cash or assets to the organization. A donor who 
makes an unconditional promise to give has no right of return of the asset. A 
conditional promise is contingent upon the occurrence of a future or uncertain 
event. Matching donations are often conditional promises to give. For example, a 
funder may promise to match other contributions received for a certain fundraising 
campaign; the conditional aspect of the promise is receiving other donations. 
Conditional promises to give should not be recorded in the financials until the 
condition has been substantially met, but they should be disclosed in the financial 
statement notes.

Special Events

Usually, the amount charged to attend a special fundraising event — such as 
an auction, dinner, charity ball, raffle, or sporting event — is greater than the 
cost of the benefit that the participant receives, and therefore there are both 
contribution and exchange elements to the transaction. Complex accounting 
rules exist related to recording special event revenues and costs. Both the board 
and management must be certain the organization has systems in place for 
proper tracking and recording of these types of events.
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Expenses
Nonprofits are required to report expenses according to their functional 
allocation, meaning the purpose for which they were incurred. This is one of 
the main differences between nonprofit and for-profit financial statement 
presentation. Every board member should be sure to understand the 
organization’s major expenses so as to identify obvious red flags or line 
items that need further explanation.

Expenses are grouped in three functional categories:

• Program expenses — Costs directly related to carrying out the nonprofit’s 
program or services in accordance with its tax-exempt mission or 
purpose, such as the supplies and food at a homeless shelter and the 
salaries of program workers.

• Management and general expenses — Overall administrative costs 
that cannot be classified as program or fundraising expenses, such 
as the costs associated with an audit or legal services related to an 
employment issue.

• Fundraising expenses — Costs related to securing grants and 
contributions for the organization.

Joint cost allocation describes the sharing of an expense among at least 
two of the three types of functional expenses. A common example is a 
newsletter that covers program activities while serving as a fundraising 
vehicle. The organization would use an appropriate allocation method to 
divide newsletter expenses between program and fundraising. Nonprofits 
have been scrutinized for the improper allocation of joint costs. It is a 
complex issue, and board members should ensure that management 
understands the criteria for joint cost allocations related to purpose, 
audience, and content and that the allocation methodology is systematic, 
reasonable, and consistently applied.

Nonprofits also report expenses as direct and indirect. Direct costs are easily 
identifiable and related to a specific grant, program, or project. An example 
is food purchased by a nonprofit soup kitchen, which relates directly to the 
programmatic operations of the organization.

While they may not be directly attributable to one program or project, 
indirect costs are essential to a nonprofit’s ability to operate effectively 
and carry out its missions. Examples of indirect costs are rent, utilities, 
administrative salaries, and legal and accounting expenses.
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Many grant awards stipulate that indirect costs are limited to a certain 
percentage of direct costs. Board members and senior management must 
be confident that the financial staff is capable of tracking these costs 
appropriately and that they are properly reported.

Management and general and fundraising expenses are also referred to as 
supporting services expenses. Many expenses include both program and 
supporting service functions, such as the salary of an employee whose work 
involves tasks related to both categories. To account properly for these 
expenses, the organization must have a defined allocation plan that includes 
a justifiable, documented allocation method, such as square footage or 
timekeeping records.

The functional allocation of expenses is a hot topic for nonprofits, and 
differing opinions exist about the proper ratio of program, management, 
and fundraising to total organizational expenses. Many in the nonprofit 
and for-profit sectors refer to supporting service expenses as overhead. 
Unfortunately, there is an abundance of misinformation and a lack of 
understanding of what these costs represent and why they are necessary. 
The percentage of expenses related to program and supporting services 
is easy to track, and it has become widely accepted as a way to measure 
the impact of a donor’s dollar. To satisfy donor concerns about how their 
gifts are being used, many nonprofit organizations are under pressure to 
report a low or impractical percentage of supporting services expenses. 
But starving an organization of resources needed to operate effectively is 
counterproductive. The board and senior management should consistently 
evaluate the organization’s needs with regard to supporting service 
expenses and ensure that the organization is making the best use of its 
resources so it operates efficiently and effectively. Measuring Fundraising 
Effectiveness: Why Cost of Fundraising Isn’t Enough — a framework 
developed by BoardSource and several partner organizations — is a useful 
resource on this topic (see Recommended Resources).

Change in Net Assets
The change in net assets on the statement of activities is the same as 
net profit or loss on a for-profit income statement. Think of it as the 
organization’s bottom line for the time period reported. In addition to the 
change in net assets, the statement of activities will show the beginning 
and ending net assets by classification (without donor restrictions and with 
donor restrictions). The ending net assets should agree with the amount of 
net assets on the statement of financial position.
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Red Flags to Look For
• Negative change in net assets, or loss — While this does not necessarily 

indicate a major problem, you should have confidence in the reasons 
behind the loss and understand the trends over several years. If the 
organization is simply spending funds that were received in a previous 
financial period, the loss may be completely reasonable.

• Increase in net assets released from restrictions shown in the with donor 
restrictions column — This item should always be shown as a decrease 
in the with donor restrictions column and as an increase in the without 
donor restrictions column.

• Expenses shown in the with donor restrictions column — Expenses should 
always be shown in the without donor restrictions column.

• Expenses not allocated by function — U.S. GAAP requires functional 
allocation of all expenses, but they are not required to be presented as 
such on the statement of activities. They can be included in a schedule or 
statement or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

• Loss of a key funding source — If the statement of activities suggests that 
the organization has lost a significant funder, you should ask for more 
information from management.

• Lack of a well-diversified revenue stream — The organization may be relying 
too heavily on a certain type of revenue and/or funder, a potential risk that 
the board should address.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
The statement of cash flows reports the sources and uses of the organization’s 
short-term cash and cash equivalents for the period concurrent with the 
statement of activities. It is a summary of where the organization’s cash came 
from and how it was used. This statement can be useful in understanding the 
actual cash activities for the period. Cash flows may not be obvious in the 
other financial statements, which are prepared using the accrual method of 
accounting. The statement of cash flows starts with the change in net assets 
(profit or loss) as indicated on the statement of activities and reconciles that 
to the change in cash for the period. Many nonprofits are challenged with 
managing cash flow, so this statement, coupled with a cash flow forecast, is an 
important tool in helping identify and address cash flow issues.

The statement of cash flows uses either the direct or the indirect method. 
Most nonprofits use the indirect method, which is easier to prepare and 
understand. That method is discussed here. Some governmental agencies 
require the direct method.
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When using the indirect method, the statement of cash flow is organized 
into five areas:

• Cash flows from operating activities show incoming and outgoing cash for 
items related to the core operations of the organization, such as receipts 
of grants and contributions and payments of salaries.

• Cash flows from investing activities show the incoming and outgoing 
cash for items such as capital purchases, including fixed assets (land, 
buildings, furniture, etc.) or investment activities.

• Cash flows from financing activities show the incoming and outgoing cash 
for items related to the financing of the organization, such as debt or line 
of credit activities. Additions to an endowment would be included in this 
area.

• Net change in cash during the period shows the change in cash for the 
specified period, as well as the beginning and ending cash balances.

• Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities 
shows required disclosures such as cash paid for interest.

Red Flags to Look For
• Significant decrease in cash over the period covered by the statement — 

You will want to understand what caused the substantial decrease and 
gain comfort with the explanation.

• Negative ending cash balance — There is likely a mistake in the 
preparation of the statement, because an organization cannot have 
negative cash.

• Significant financial activities you were not aware of — Examples include 
large purchases of assets, large investment transactions, and the 
opening of a line of credit.

• Missing transactions — If the nonprofit has a mortgage on its property, 
for example, you should see a line item for principal payments on the 
mortgage.

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
The statement of functional expenses is unique to nonprofits. It is prepared 
in a matrix format with columns that allocate expenses by their function 
(program, management and general, and fundraising) as well as by the 
nature or type of expense (such as salaries, benefits, rent, telephone, and 
supplies). This statement is required for all nonprofit organizations, either 
on a separate statement, on the face of the statement of activities, or in 
the notes to the financial statements. Under the new reporting regulations, 
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a description of the methods used to allocate costs among program and 
support functions must be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Many nonprofits will further detail their programs within the statement of 
functional expenses if they operate more than one program. The statement 
is a tool that can be used to help evaluate whether programs should be 
continued. For more about the functional allocation of expenses, see page 34.

Red Flags to Look For
• A program that consistently shows a deficit — The board should 

understand the reasons for the deficit and evaluate whether to continue 
the program.

• A lack of fundraising expenses — An organization that receives grants and 
contributions should have some level of fundraising expense, as some 
effort is needed to obtain that revenue.

• Large amounts in “other expenses” — Management should explain what 
this line item contains and why those expenses are not allocated to their 
true uses.

• An unusually high percentage of program costs to total costs — Nonprofit 
organizations are tempted to underreport administrative and fundraising 
costs, so you should understand the reasoning behind this percentage.

• Significant inconsistency in year-to-year line items — If inconsistencies 
appear, they may be explainable, but they should not be a surprise 
based on your knowledge of the organization’s operations.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the financial statements are also referred to as disclosures, which 
are addenda to the audited financial statements. They provide further 
explanation about details of certain account balances or transactions 
included in the financials, as well as information that is not recorded, such as 
details about restricted funds, potential risks or liabilities, and subsequent 
events (significant events that happened after the date of the financial 
statements).

Many times, the notes to the financial statements are disregarded as 
unimportant or not relevant, but that is not the case. Board members 
must read and understand the notes, as they can provide valuable 
insight into the organization that could otherwise not be determined by 
reading the financials. The notes typically begin with information about 
the organization’s structure, legal status, mission, and activities, and then 
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continue with its stated accounting policies and details about amounts in the 
financial statements. Some disclosures are required by U.S. GAAP, and the 
notes can also be used to explain odd or unusual transactions.

Red Flags to Look For
• Incorrect accounting method — If the first note identifies the accounting 

policy as modified accrual basis or modified cash basis, the organization 
is not in compliance with generally accepted accounting principles. The 
accounting method should be accrual basis. (See sidebar on page 40.) 

• Related-party transactions — As a board member, you will want to 
understand and be comfortable with the business reason behind all 
related-party transactions (see page 70).

• Potential lawsuits — If material, they are required to be disclosed and 
should be of concern to board members.

• Change in accounting policies — Regulators occasionally require changes 
in accounting policies. If so, the notes will indicate the requirement. If 
not, you should understand the reasons behind the change.

• Unexpected long-term debt balloon payment — This may not be a red flag 
if the board and management are well aware of the situation and have a 
plan to pay it or refinance when it becomes due. But the existence of a 
balloon payment should not be a surprise.

• Line of credit at the maximum limit — The organization may have cash 
flow problems.

• Subsequent events — You should understand any subsequent event 
disclosures, and in most instances, you should not be learning about 
them for the first time in the audited financial statements.

• Extraordinary transactions — Any one-of-a-kind, unusual events will be 
described in the footnotes if the auditors determine they are material 
enough to warrant disclosure.

• Concentration of revenue disclosure — If a high percentage of revenue 
comes from one source, such as a single funder or a government 
agency, this information needs to be disclosed in the footnotes. Such a 
disclosure would indicate that there is risk related to the concentration; 
this should not be a surprise to management or the board.
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ACCOUNTING METHODS DEFINED 
•	 Cash basis — Records revenues when the cash is received instead of 

earned, and expenses when they are disbursed instead of incurred. 

•	 Accrual basis — Recognizes economic events when they occur, 
regardless of when cash transactions happen. Revenue is recorded when 
services are performed or goods are transferred to produce the revenue, 
regardless of when payment is received. Expenses are recorded in the 
period they are incurred, rather than when they are paid.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial statements that include financial information for two or more 
related entities are referred to as consolidated financial statements. 
Nonprofits may have interests in various types of entities for a wide variety 
of reasons, but typically, these interests are created as a way for nonprofits 
to better serve their constituents. Nonprofits with interests in other entities 
must determine whether generally accepted accounting principles require 
them to prepare consolidated financial statements with the other entities 
they have formed or partnered with.

This determination is based on two concepts: controlling financial interest 
and economic interest. A nonprofit has a controlling financial interest in 
another nonprofit if it controls the majority voting interest of that nonprofit’s 
board. A nonprofit has a controlling financial interest in a for-profit entity 
if it is the majority owner of the for-profit entity. A nonprofit has economic 
interest in another nonprofit if it is responsible for that nonprofit’s debts 
or if it holds or uses resources to produce income or provide services for 
that nonprofit. These concepts can be complex, so it is important to seek 
professional advice on how to handle these types of situations.

FINANCIAL DASHBOARDS
A financial dashboard is a visual report specific to a nonprofit’s operations 
and provides a high-level overview of key financial data and performance 
over a period of time. Dashboards are not included in the set of audited 
financials, but they can be just as useful. Reviewing them does not, however, 
replace the oversight role you perform by reviewing the traditional financial 
statements. Dashboards will help you focus on key trends and relationships 
and identify potential pitfalls. Dashboards are specifically helpful when they 
compare actual results to the approved budget, so the board can see major 
variances and understand the causes. They also make it easy to identify 
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trends by comparing information from prior months and years. It is common 
for the board to receive some type of dashboard periodically, usually on a 
monthly basis.

Because there is so much variety in financial and operational performance 
indicators across the nonprofit sector, guidance on creating a dashboard is 
outside the scope of this publication. However, many tools and examples 
are available to help organizations generate dashboards focused on the 
key performance indicators (KPIs) that are relevant to their work (see 
Recommended Resources). If you receive dashboards, learn how to use them 
productively. If you do not receive them, ask management why you do not.
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CHAPTER 4
AUDIT AND IRS FORM 990 OVERSIGHT
An audit is the process by which an independent certified public accounting 
(CPA) firm renders an opinion on an organization’s financial statements. 
Using audit procedures, the firm evaluates the financial statements, the 
notes to the financial statements, and the accounting principles used in 
the preparation of the financial statements, and determines if the financial 
statements are free from material misstatements and reliable. The audit is 
not a public document. Some funders and lenders may require it, however.

Form 990 is an informational return that most nonprofit organizations 
are required to file with the IRS. Nonprofits do not generally pay federal 
income tax unless they have unrelated business revenue, so Form 990 is 
a tool the IRS uses to verify that an organization meets federal tax-exempt 
requirements. It is a public document on file with the IRS. GuideStar, a 
nonprofit organization that gathers and disseminates information about all 
IRS-registered nonprofits, posts all public-disclosure Form 990s online and 
encourages nonprofits to share further information openly and completely.

It is interesting to note that the tax returns of for-profit corporations are 
private documents, and the financials of publicly held companies must be 
reported to various regulatory agencies. The opposite is true for nonprofit 
organizations. Their financials are considered private, but they must file a 
public informational return with the IRS.

As part of its fiduciary duties, the board has oversight of the audit and Form 
990, involving four responsibilities:

1. Ensuring that the financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) 

2. Selecting and hiring the independent audit firm 
3. Reviewing and accepting the audit and Form 990, including the  

communication letters
4. Meeting with the auditors in executive session without staff present 

ENSURING EFFECTIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
An organization’s financial statements must include all information that the 
user needs to evaluate the current financial condition of the organization 
(see Chapter 3). If the information cannot be included in the financial 
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statements, it must be incorporated as a footnote disclosure. Usually, the 
first footnote accompanying all financial statements is a summary of the 
accounting policies used by the organization.

The board’s responsibility involves confirming that management has the 
expertise to prepare the financial statements accurately and has appropriate 
internal control processes in place. (Refer to pages 76–77 for a discussion 
of internal controls.) If the organization’s staff does not have the accounting 
knowledge to produce financial statements in this manner, the board must 
determine a way to accomplish this critical function, such as outsourcing the 
work.

OVERSEEING THE INDEPENDENT AUDIT 

What the Auditor Does
An organization hires a CPA firm to provide a level of attestation and express 
an opinion on the financial statements. An audited financial statement 
includes the following elements:

• Audit opinion letter
• Statement of financial position
• Statement of activities
• Statement of cash flows 
• Statement of functional expenses (for some nonprofits)
• Notes to the financial statements (see page 38)
 
If a governmental audit is required, the CPA firm is also required to express 
an opinion on the compliance with laws and agreements related to the 
organization’s government-funded program.

An auditor can issue four types of audit opinion reports:

• Unmodified — The highest or best type of opinion a CPA firm can 
provide (also called a clean opinion), which means that, in the firm’s 
opinion, the accounts and disclosures in the financial statements are 
fairly represented and can be relied on by users.

• Qualified — The auditor concludes that misstatements are material but 
not pervasive to the financial statements, or the auditor is unable to 
obtain sufficient audit evidence on which to base the opinion. Simply 
stated, the audit firm could not provide the highest opinion level due to 
a specific reason.
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• Adverse — In the auditor’s judgment, the financial statements are 
not presented fairly in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and the auditor 
concludes that misstatements are both material and pervasive to the 
financial statements. This type of opinion reflects very poorly on the 
fiscal management, and possibly the integrity, of the organization.

• Disclaimer — If the auditor cannot issue an opinion on the financial 
information because it was not able to gather enough reliable evidence 
due to either management-imposed scope limitations, or if the possible 
effects of undetected misstatements on the financial statements could 
be both material and pervasive, the firm will issue a disclaimer report.

Other Audit Services
It is important to consult with your CPA firm or other knowledgeable 
professional to make sure your organization is receiving the appropriate 
type of attestation (verification) services. If an organization spends more 
than $750,000 in federal funds in one fiscal year, it is required to have an 
audit in compliance with federal standards, referred to as a single audit. 
Some state government contracts may also require an audit depending 
on the level of state funding received. See page 49 for a more detailed 
discussion of federal audits.

AUDITORS ARE NOT HIRED TO DISCOVER FRAUD
A common misconception is that the CPA firm is hired to discover or detect 
fraud. The board and management have the responsibility to protect the 
organization against fraud — including making sure that the appropriate and 
relevant internal controls are in place. Reliance on auditors to find fraud is 
not an internal control.

Auditors evaluate the risk of material misstatement of the financial 
statements due to error or fraud and determine if appropriate procedures 
are in place to prevent or reduce the likelihood of errors or fraud. If their 
findings indicate that the appropriate procedures are not in place, it is the 
board’s responsibility — not the auditor’s — to ensure that the procedures 
are established and maintained. As auditors conduct fraud risk evaluation 
and substantive audit testing, they may detect instances of fraud. If they do, 
professional standards require them to communicate what they have found 
to the board — typically the audit committee — in a timely manner.
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AUDITS IN NEW OR SMALL ORGANIZATIONS
A brand-new organization struggling to get off the ground may find it hard 
to produce a financial statement that is auditable when it does not yet have 
valid comparative data. As soon as the organization has existed for a few 
years, however, it is time to seriously consider obtaining an audit. Similar 
challenges apply to very small organizations with simple, straightforward 
finances that cannot afford full, independent audits. But no organization 
should ignore solid financial policies and procedures and regular financial 
statements under any circumstances. Organizations that can justify skipping 
the audit recommendations for the time being have other less costly 
options. They can opt for biennial audits, or they can choose less costly 
reviews that provide limited assurance on the risk of the financial statements 
being free from material misstatements. Very small and uncomplicated 
organizations may rely on a compilation, for example, which means hiring an 
outside accountant to prepare or compile the statements.

If you are unsure about whether your organization should conduct an audit, 
ask these basic questions of management: 

• Is our organization required to have an annual audit? If so, who or what 
requires it (such as the bylaws, federal or state government agencies, 
funders, the bank, or the parent organization)?

• Should we have an audit even if the law does not require one? 
Remember, an audit is another method to ensure that you are carrying 
out your fiduciary responsibility to safeguard the organization’s assets.

• What is the status of the most recent audit? If it is not current, why not? 

SELECTING AN AUDIT FIRM
Hiring and overseeing a CPA firm to conduct the audit is the responsibility 
of the audit committee — or, if the board does not have one, the finance or 
other designated committee. One committee member should be chosen 
to coordinate the audit process. Using a request for proposal (RFP) should 
help in selecting the right firm. The committee should consider many 
factors, the most important of which is whether the firm has appropriate 
experience in nonprofit accounting and in government audits, if applicable. 
Requesting a copy of the firm’s most recent peer review results is a must. 
Absence of a report, or unwillingness to provide it, is a red flag, and the 
firm should be taken out of consideration. Cost should be a part of the 
evaluation process but should not be the deciding factor. Be wary of a firm 
that submits a proposal with a significantly lower price tag than others. All 
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firms are required to perform audit procedures using the same regulatory 
guidance, and you would want to understand how one firm might be able to 
do the same work for less money than others. Significantly lower fees may 
indicate a lack of thorough, quality work. Finally, ask to speak to references, 
particularly nonprofit clients. Most state associations of nonprofits or CPAs 
can recommend reputable nonprofit audit firms.

All board members should understand the process of selecting and working 
with the audit firm. You should also know what to expect from the auditor 
and how to read and interpret the audit report and communication letters.

ROTATING THE AUDITOR AND LEAD PARTNER
BoardSource recommends that a nonprofit evaluate its relationship with the 
lead partner and the audit firm at least once every five years and consider 
rotation of either. Rotation will give the organization a fresh perspective on 
its financial procedures and internal controls. A long tenure with one partner 
or firm could lead to complacency, and issues of possible concern could 
be overlooked. It is also important to consider whether the firm and your 
organization are compatible in size. A small firm may not have the expertise 
or capacity to take on the requirements of auditing a larger nonprofit, and 
a very large firm may not give an extremely small nonprofit the attention it 
needs from its auditor.

A wide variety of opinions exist about audit firm and audit lead partner 
rotations. In the United States, there is currently no mandatory requirement 
for nonprofits to change firms or lead partners after a certain number of 
years. Proponents of mandatory audit firm rotation believe that rotation 
is important because of the concept of independence: Auditors perform 
the audit and issue their opinion while exercising objectivity and are not 
influenced by matters that could compromise their professional judgment. 
Others in the profession believe that each audit engagement involves a 
significant learning curve, and there is a much higher risk of audit failures in 
the first few years of an audit.

It is important to note that professional requirements for firms providing 
attestation services where independence is required mandate that 
independence be both “in fact” and “in appearance.” The perception of 
independence is as important as real independence, because an auditor’s 
objectivity must be beyond question to ensure the credibility of the audit 
report. Independence is a requirement when CPA firms provide either 
review or audit services.
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If the board and management are happy with the performance of the 
auditor, there may be benefit in keeping the firm on, as the experience it has 
with the organization can be very valuable. BoardSource’s recommendation 
is to evaluate the relationships and make a deliberate decision as to whether 
to maintain the relationship with the existing firm and/or lead partner.

COMMUNICATING WITH THE AUDIT FIRM
Auditors and their nonprofit clients are required to use four written 
communication mechanisms: the engagement letter, the management 
representation letter, the internal control letter, and the governance letter. 

Engagement Letter
The engagement letter is a written contract between the CPA firm and the 
nonprofit that details both parties’ understanding of the relationship. Both 
parties should sign it before work begins. This letter documents the terms 
of the engagement, including the objective and scope of the services to be 
provided; responsibilities of the auditor and management; identification of 
the financial statement reporting framework; expected form and content of 
reports to be issued; and a statement regarding the inherent limitations of 
an audit and internal controls. The engagement letter should be signed by an 
officer of the organization, such as the treasurer (who should be a member 
of the committee with oversight of the audit process), or the chair of the 
committee that oversees the audit process, as well as the chief executive.

Management Representation Letter
The management representation letter (typically referred to as the 
“management rep” letter) attests to the accuracy of the financial statements 
and disclosures that are to be audited. This letter provides the audit firm 
with written assurance that management has given the firm all the pertinent 
information as required and that management acknowledges its primary 
responsibility for the financial statements.

Internal Control Letter
The internal control letter communicates to the board and management any 
deficiencies the auditors have identified in performing the audit related to 
the implementation and effectiveness of the organization’s internal controls. 
This report is presented at the conclusion of the audit. If fraud has been 
discovered, however, the auditor is required to communicate in a timely 
manner to the appropriate level of management.
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The auditors are required to communicate two types of deficiencies:

• Material weakness, defined by the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA) as a “deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.”

• Significant deficiency, defined by the AICPA as “a deficiency, or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than 
a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance.”

• 
A second letter, commonly called the management letter, may be transmitted 
or combined with the internal control letter. It may include issues that do 
not rise to the level of a significant deficiency or material weakness but 
represent opportunities for the organization to strengthen its systems of 
internal control.

In subsequent audits, the auditors will include the status of previously 
reported deficiencies in internal control. As a board member, if the same 
issues remain on the letter the following year, you should inquire as to why 
the deficiency has not yet been resolved. The continuation of a practice that 
the auditor deems a deficiency could likely indicate that management does 
not take the auditor’s recommendation seriously, which may indicate larger 
overarching problems with the financial system.

Governance Letter
The governance (or governance communication) letter addresses items 
related to the audit, such as the scope of the procedures performed, 
findings, any disagreements with management, and significant estimates. 
This letter is issued at the end of the audit and presents information about 
the following audit matters:

• Scope of the audit procedures performed
• Significant accounting practices
• Significant audit findings
• Any difficulties encountered during the performance of the audit
• Disagreements with management
• Uncorrected and corrected misstatements identified during the audit
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• Management representations (as described in the management 
representation letter)

• Managements consultations with other independent accountants 
(second opinions on certain matters)

• Significant issues discussed with management prior to engagement
• Other audit findings or issues

It is extremely important for you, as a board member, to read and 
understand the internal control letter and the governance letter as they give 
you significant insight into the financial practices of the organization. Pay 
very close attention to the facts supporting any communicated findings, as 
well as management’s plan to alleviate and/or correct these findings.

FEDERAL FUNDING, EXPENDITURES, AND FEDERAL AUDITS (SINGLE 
AUDITS)
Many nonprofits receive funding from the federal government — both directly and 
indirectly through other agencies, such as states — through grants and contracts 
for providing services to specified recipients. The relationships between nonprofits 
and governmental agencies can be complex and thus reinforce the need to 
ensure that nonprofits have the financial expertise to appropriately administer and 
account for the receipts and expenditures of federal funding.

If a nonprofit organization spends (not receives) more than $750,000 in federal 
funding in one fiscal year, the federal government requires what is commonly 
known as a single audit (previously called an A-133 audit), which combines the audit 
of the federal funds received with the financial statement audit. A single audit is 
more complex than a standard financial statement audit, as it includes an added 
focus on the nonprofit’s internal controls over financial reporting and compliance 
related to the federal expenditures. CPA firms must be qualified to perform single 
audits, so nonprofits must ensure that the audit firm they hire is appropriately 
skilled and in compliance with professional standards.

If the CPA firm issues findings as a result of the audit, the nonprofit needs to 
prepare a corrective action plan that addresses each audit finding. It is important 
to take audit findings very seriously and address and correct them before they 
escalate into matters of even greater concern. There may be serious adverse 
consequences for organizations that either do not
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have timely single audits if required or do not address material findings of 
noncompliance.

A single audit will be an added cost beyond the financial statement audit. The cost 
varies based on the complexity of the organization’s federally funded programs 
and the number to be tested as major programs by the auditors, but it is much less 
expensive to conduct one and rectify any findings than it would be to do otherwise. 
A host of problems will result from not providing the government with a timely 
federal audit submission, such as discontinuation of future funding, requirement 
to repay previous funding, and fines and penalties. As a board member, you should 
understand whether a single audit is required for your organization, the status of 
the most recent audit including any findings, and whether the appropriate financial 
systems are in place to administer federal funds.

THE BOARD’S EXECUTIVE SESSION WITH THE AUDITORS
The audit committee (or the designated oversight committee) and/or the full 
board should meet with the auditors without staff present, typically at the 
end of the audit. This executive session gives the auditors the opportunity 
to report candidly about the strengths (or weaknesses) of the organization’s 
financial practices and internal controls and the financial capabilities of its 
personnel. It also allows the board to have a less inhibited discussion than 
might occur with the chief executive or other staff present.

Leading with Intent: 2017 National Index of Nonprofit Board Practices indicates 
that 69 percent of organizations that conduct an audit do not meet with the 
auditors without staff present. The importance of holding these executive 
sessions cannot be overemphasized, as they offer a highly significant 
opportunity for board members to provide fiduciary and financial oversight 
by gaining insights on financial matters that might not otherwise be evident. 
As a board member, you should ensure that this practice is being done 
consistently and without fail.

Red Flags to Look For
• The organization changes auditors frequently — The relationship with an 

auditor should be evaluated every three to five years for compatibility. If 
the nonprofit has changed more often, the reasons behind the change 
need to be understood as there could be disagreements with the 
auditors or other adverse situations.

• The opinion letter starts with, “We have compiled or reviewed the financial 
statements of….” — This statement indicates that an audit was not 
conducted.
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• The opinion letter issued is an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, 
or it states that the auditors question the organization’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. — All of these are serious adverse situations, and the 
board should address them immediately.

• The date of the audit letter is more than three or four months after the end 
of the fiscal year. — The financial staff may not have been prepared for 
the audit field work, which would indicate a lack of organization in the 
financial department.

• An executive session with the auditor without staff present was not held. — 
The board should insist on holding these meetings, which are critical to 
the board’s ability to provide fiduciary and financial oversight.

• The significant deficiencies, material weaknesses, and other significant 
matters on the management letter continue from one year to the next. — 
Management is not taking these findings seriously and not doing much, 
if anything, to correct them.

REVIEWING THE ORGANIZATION’S FORM 990 
Form 990 is an informational form filed annually with the IRS by tax-
exempt organizations that provides details about mission, programs, 
governance practices, and financial data. The data collected helps the 
entire nonprofit sector monitor growth and trends, track the needs that 
the sector addresses, and identify specific practices adopted by nonprofits. 
A sizable portion of the Form 990 relates to governance and provides 
specific information about the nonprofit’s board, officers, and most highly 
compensated employees. The questions in Part VI encourage appropriate 
behavior and best practices by helping to expose unsuitable conduct as it 
relates to governance. Nonprofits may be required to complete up to 12 
parts of the Form 990 and 16 schedules or attachments, depending on their 
activities.

Every board member should receive and review the Form 990 in its entirety 
before it is filed with the IRS. The form must be correct, complete, and 
submitted on time; and it must accurately describe the organization’s 
mission, programs, and achievements. Part VI specifically asks if all members 
of the board have received the form (line 11a) before filing and requests a 
description of the review process, if any (line 11b). Although the IRS does not 
mandate a board review, the absence of one could be perceived as — and 
may likely be — an indication of poor governance.

Board review is also a critical step forward in the current environment of 
ever-increasing transparency and accountability in the nonprofit sector. Your 



52     © 2018 BoardSource 

Audit and IRS Form 990 Oversight

organization’s Form 990 is available for public inspection, and your donors, 
constituents, and the media will likely view it. For some nonprofits, it is the 
only public-facing document available to promote and help spread the word 
about their missions and those they support and serve. You want to be sure 
that the Form 990 best reflects the activities and values of your organization.

Filing Requirements
Most exempt organizations must file some version of the Form 990 to 
comply with federal regulations.

• Public charities with gross receipts normally less than $50,000 must file 
Form 990-N, Electronic Notice (e-Postcard).

• Public charities with revenues less than $200,000 and total assets less 
than $500,000 may choose to file either Form 990-EZ, which is a short 
version of Form 990, or the full form.

• Public charities with gross receipts equal to or greater than $200,000 or 
total assets equal to or greater than $500,000 must file Form 990.

• Private foundations must file Form 990-PF regardless of their financial 
activity or balances.

• Some political organizations, churches, and religious organizations are 
exempt from filing.

 
Form 990 is due on the 15th day of the fifth month after the end of the 
organization’s fiscal year end (for example, if the fiscal year ends June 30, 
it would be due November 15). If an organization fails to file Form 990 for 
three consecutive years, the IRS will automatically revoke its tax-exempt 
status. There is no appeal process for automatic revocations due to the 
failure-to-file provision.

The IRS will grant automatic six-month filing extensions to those tax-exempt 
organizations that file Form 8868, but the automatic extension can happen 
only once. The penalties for late filing of the 990 can be large, starting at either 
$20 per day or $100 per day, depending on the organization’s gross receipts.

Nonprofit-Centered Issues on the Form 990
BoardSource has developed a checklist to guide the board through its 
review of the Form 990 and ensure that you are focusing on critical areas for 
evaluation (Appendix, The Board’s Role in Reviewing Form 990: A Checklist). 
Any “no” answers are red flags to the IRS and should be addressed 
appropriately within your organization. Be aware of the following key issues 
and situations that are of special concern for nonprofit organizations.
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Unrelated Business Revenue (Part VIII, Column C)
Unrelated business revenue exists when a nonprofit generates revenue that 
is (1) not substantially related to its exempt purpose, (2) regularly carried on, 
and (3) recognized as a trade or business. This type of revenue can subject 
the organization to unrelated business income tax (UBIT), which is calculated 
at corporate rates. Common examples include rental of real estate that is 
debt-financed, sale of advertising for websites and publications, and rental 
of member lists to a for-profit entity. It is important to note that one-time 
fundraisers, such as a candy drive or an annual special event, typically do not 
constitute unrelated business revenue, but the organization should always 
check with its auditor or attorney to be certain. A nonprofit must file IRS 
Form 990-T if it generates more than $1,000 in unrelated business revenue 
before deductions and any applicable state filings associated with the 
unrelated business revenue.

Generating unrelated business revenue is permitted as long as it does not 
consume a significant portion of the nonprofit’s resources. Board members 
should understand that UBIT is not a penalty and should not automatically 
be avoided. Unrelated business revenue may be a practical way to earn extra 
income to help further the organization’s mission, as long as doing so does 
not jeopardize its tax-exempt status. Management and the board should be 
prudent in their evaluation of the circumstances associated with unrelated 
business revenue before proceeding. The determination of unrelated 
business revenue is fact-specific and the calculations can be complex, so 
your organization should consult with its auditor or tax-preparer to ensure it 
is in compliance with current regulations.

Excess Benefit Transactions (Part IV, Line 25)
An excess benefit transaction exists when the nonprofit provides an 
economic benefit to a disqualified person, either directly or indirectly. 
Anything that exceeds fair market value or reasonable compensation for 
services rendered constitutes an excessive benefit. A disqualified person is 
anyone who has exerted substantial influence (not defined by the law) over 
the organization within the past five years. Specifically, the list may include 
highest-level managers, board members, founders, major donors, highest-
paid employees, family members of the above, and an entity in which the 
listed persons own more than 35 percent of an interest.

If the IRS finds any evidence of inappropriate personal gain (termed private 
inurement) by a disqualified person when auditing a nonprofit, intermediate 
sanctions, as they relate to nonprofit organizations, are imposed. Not only 
must the recipient of the benefit return the excessive financial benefit and 
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pay the penalties, but the IRS may impose additional financial penalties on 
board members and managers who knowingly approved the transaction or 
contract.

Conflicts of Interest (Part VI, Line 12)
A conflict of interest exists when a board member or employee has 
a personal interest that may influence their decision making for the 
organization. While the law focuses primarily on financial interests and 
provides some guidelines, nonprofit organizations contend with a variety 
of potential and perceived conflicts of interest, only some of which may be 
detrimental to the organization. The key for nonprofit boards is not to try to 
avoid all possible conflict-of-interest situations but to identify and follow a 
process for handling them effectively. Both board members and employees 
must abide by their organization’s conflict-of-interest policies, which should 
clarify what a conflict of interest is, what board members and employees 
must do to disclose possible conflicts, and what they should do to avoid 
acting inappropriately if and when a conflict does arise. How an organization 
ensures open and honest deliberation affects all aspects of its operations 
and is critical to making good decisions, avoiding legal problems and public 
scandals, and remaining focused on the organization’s mission. The conflict-
of-interest policy should be regularly reviewed, and any conflicts of interest 
should be appropriately disclosed as a matter of practice.

Advocacy, Lobbying, and Political Activity (Part IV, Line 4, and 
Schedule C, Part II)
A significant role for all board members is advocacy for their organizations. 
BoardSource encourages board members to “stand for their mission” (see 
Stand for Your Mission website) by communicating and connecting with 
community leaders, policymakers, the media, and the public about issues 
that are important to their mission. Lobbying refers to activities aimed 
at influencing legislators to pass or veto specific laws that are favorable 
or unfavorable to one’s cause. It can be direct (contacting legislators 
or government officials directly) or grassroots (attempting to influence 
legislation by molding the general public’s opinion on an issue). Political 
activity is intervention by any means in any political campaign in favor of or 
against a candidate. It does not include nonpartisan voter education or get-
out-the-vote drives.

The IRS allows 501(c)(3) organizations to engage in lobbying as long as 
it is not a “substantial part” of their activities. As this definition is quite 
ambiguous, charities (except churches) have an option to elect an 
expenditure test under Section 501(h). Federal grant funds, however, may 
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not be spent on lobbying. Political activity is strictly prohibited for any 501(c)
(3). Private foundations may not engage in lobbying or political activity at 
all. When choosing the 501(h) option, a nonprofit is in a better position 
of surveying and controlling its lobbying activities. It can spend up to 20 
percent of its first $500,000 of exempt expenditures on lobbying. The dollar 
limit on total lobbying expenditure is $1 million. However, only 25 percent 
of the permitted amount can be devoted to grassroots lobbying. Under the 
substantial part test, the organization must include volunteer participation 
as a percentage of activity; under the expenditure test, only money used or 
staff time spent count. Expenditure is calculated over a four-year period, not 
annually. Nonprofits incorporated as 501(c)(4) social welfare organizations 
and 501(c)(6) trade associations may engage in lobbying activities without 
limits; in fact, that can sometimes be one of their main functions. Equally, 
these organizations are allowed to participate in political campaigns but may 
not exclusively operate for the benefit of one political party or candidate.

A violation of the IRS regulations in these areas may result in the loss of 
tax-exempt status and/or an obligation to pay excise taxes on the money 
improperly spent. Naturally an individual, even when associated with a 
nonprofit, can participate in any legal activity as a private citizen.
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RISK MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT 
An intentional focus on risk management is essential to the success and 
sustainability of an organization. Viewing, analyzing, and managing risk from 
all angles places the nonprofit in a strategic position by allowing it to quickly 
respond to a crisis or capitalize on unforeseen potential while continuing to 
fulfill its mission safely without interruption.

As part of its responsibility to protect the organization’s assets, the board is 
responsible for creating and maintaining an organizational culture that stress-
es the importance of risk management. The entire board must be sensitive to 
the existence of risk, set the tone for dealing with it, and demand that proper 
processes and tools are in place to keep the organization safe and ready to act 
when a situation demands it. A specific subset of the board should coordinate 
this effort, as determined by the full board. It typically makes sense for the 
audit committee to be delegated oversight of the implementation and moni-
toring of a risk management plan and policy. If the organization does not have 
a stand-alone audit committee, the finance committee or a risk management 
task force should provide this oversight. A task force may include board mem-
bers, staff, outside experts, and legal counsel — anyone who is able to help 
design, implement, and monitor the process.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
Developing and adhering to a risk management policy is recognition that 
the nonprofit is committed to managing risk in order to sustain itself. The 
purpose of the policy is to ensure that appropriate systems, controls, and 
strategies are in place to identify material risks facing the nonprofit and to 
manage exposure to the identified risks. The first step is a comprehensive 
risk assessment — performed by the staff in collaboration with the board — 
to identify potential risks. Assessing risk is a process that benefits from input 
from many individuals with varying perspectives within the organization. 
The more thought that is put into the question, “What can go wrong, and 
how can we prevent it?” the more thorough the risk management policy will 
be. The policy should include a summary of the organization’s approach 
and potential response to all identified risk areas as well as a timeline for 
periodic review of each risk area. Some risk areas will need to be reviewed 
more frequently than others, but the board, with a recommendation from 
the committee or group responsible for overseeing risk management, 
should decide on the appropriate timeline. 
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INSURANCE COVERAGE
Adequate insurance coverage is a critical — though certainly not the only — 
component of any risk management strategy. Insurance cannot minimize the 
effects of all areas of risk. For example, it is risky to rely too heavily on one 
grantor, as it may choose to not support your organization in a given year. 
And insurance will not help if the chief executive unexpectedly resigns from 
the organization and there is no succession plan in place.

But in many risk areas, insurance can minimize the effects of an adverse 
event, including a lawsuit, employee fraud, or physical property damage. 
For this reason, it is imperative that nonprofits have appropriate insurance 
coverage for their general operations, as well as for directors and officers 
(D&O). Add-on policies and riders will provide additional coverage for 
situations such as event cancellation, social engineering, and workplace 
violence. The chief executive, together with the group charged with risk 
management oversight, should work with the nonprofit’s insurance agent to 
discuss the available options.

There are many highly competent insurance agents and brokers who 
specialize in the nonprofit sector, and it is important to select one with this 
expertise. Also in the mix of the best advisors are local, regional, and national 
firms with expertise in subsets of the sector (for example, churches, athletic 
groups, or social services agencies).

Insurance is something many nonprofit leaders purchase without 
understanding what they are buying. Many leaders readily admit to a limited 
understanding of the key features of their coverage, including claims filing 
instructions, policy conditions, and the meaning of the policy endorsements 
and exclusions. Insist that answers to your coverage questions be submitted 
in writing, and require that your agent provide an annual schedule of 
insurance — an itemized listing of your policies, limits, deductibles, expiration 
dates, key policy features and exclusions, annual premium, and carriers.

BOARD MEMBERS AND PERSONAL LIABILITY
Even the most proactive risk management policies and procedures cannot 
ensure that a board member will not be implicated in a lawsuit while acting 
on behalf of the organization. Indemnification clauses in the organization’s 
bylaws as well as state and federal laws may provide some protection for 
some causes of action, but purchasing directors’ and officers’ (D&O) liability 
insurance is highly recommended.
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D&O insurance safeguards board members and the organization against 
causes of action not covered by a general liability policy. An important 
benefit of D&O insurance is broad coverage for employment-related claims, 
such as wrongful termination of employees and discrimination.

Typically, a D&O policy will provide both defense and indemnification 
for the individual directors and officers and the organization. Since each 
insurance company offers a different policy form with distinctions that could 
dramatically alter coverage, it is important for board members to check the 
specific language of the policy and be comfortable with the coverage.

BUSINESS CONTINUITY PLAN
Business continuity plans, also commonly referred to as disaster recovery 
plans, are the processes and procedures put in place to proactively ensure 
the continuation of critical functions after an event such as a cyberattack, 
building fire, or environmental disaster. The planning for and documenting 
of necessary procedures will help an organization recover from such an 
unexpected event, as the plan should explain what is needed to keep all of 
its business functions going.

A business continuity plan is an essential document to have in the event 
of an emergency, but producing and maintaining it is a time-consuming, 
cumbersome process that involves a significant commitment of time 
from staff. For a plan to be effective, it needs to cover all aspects of the 
nonprofit’s operations. In addition, no plan will be foolproof unless it is 
tested. This takes planning and sophistication, adding to the reasons that 
hamper the process. The effectiveness of a business continuity plan will 
ideally never be tested in a real-life situation, but it is a critical component of 
risk management and should be prioritized for all organizations.

RISK AREAS TO CONSIDER
Assessing potential risks to the organization entails addressing many 
different considerations. General risk areas are identified below, but keep in 
mind that the types of risk sometimes overlap and that all nonprofits face 
varying types of risks that are unique to each organization.

Financial Risk
Fraud
The risk of fraud exists in every nonprofit organization with assets that could 
be misused or stolen. Factors to consider when assessing the risk of fraud 
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include the nature of the assets that could be stolen or misused, including 
cash, investments, receivables (billing schemes are common in nonprofits), 
inventory, and supplies. Having a strong system of internal controls will help 
prevent and/or deter fraudulent activity. (See pages 76–77 for a discussion 
of internal controls.) The system should be evaluated related to issues such 
as segregation of duties, opportunities to carry out fraud, safeguards, and 
mandatory vacations.

Board members, in collaboration with the chief executive and chief financial 
officer, need to ensure that effective internal controls are in place and set 
the tone regarding punishment for fraud against the nonprofit. This is a 
good time to communicate with the auditors about their assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal controls systems. A zero-tolerance policy should 
be enforced for anyone committing fraud, and the importance of a strong 
ethical environment should be stressed from the top level down.

Investment Portfolio Risk
In addition to the risk of fraud that is inherent in any investment portfolio, 
the risk of market devaluation also exists. This risk is particularly apparent 
when there is a sudden substantial decline in the stock market, and 
investment values plummet. Many nonprofit organizations with sizable 
investments have an investment committee whose primary tasks are 
to propose investment policies to the board and hire an independent 
professional investment manager who reports to the committee. A sound 
investment strategy, combined with an investment policy that is current 
and adhered to, will help to ensure that the organization’s investments are 
protected in the manner in which the board has decided is prudent for the 
organization. If the organization does not have a designated investment 
committee, oversight of the investment portfolio typically falls under the 
responsibilities of the finance committee.

Concentration of Revenue
Nonprofits seek funding from a variety of revenue sources. Organizations 
can be at risk if they rely too heavily on limited sources of funding, such 
as one large donor or one revenue stream. A diversified base for creating 
income allows an organization to stay flexible, stable, and more insulated 
from environmental fluctuations. As part of the risk assessment strategy, 
the finance committee or risk assessment task force, in conjunction 
with the chief executive and senior staff, should identify where revenue 
concentrations may exist. They should first examine the percentage and 
amounts of revenues from all funders, contracts, and earned revenue 
sources and the likelihood of continuation. After the concentrations are 
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identified, the committee should ensure that a plan is developed to diversify 
funding sources and types and that a contingency plan exists for the 
potential loss of each concentration that was identified.

Preventing or Minimizing Financial Risk
Establishing reserves. Reserves are funds without donor restrictions that 
have been set aside to provide a cushion against unexpected events, such 
as a significant loss of income or unanticipated expenses. Reserves have the 
following purposes:

• They allow an organization to continue activity when income falls 
unexpectedly because clients are unable to pay bills on time or major 
funding falls through.

• They act as safeguard against market forces and economic downshifts, 
natural disasters, or unexpected expenses.

• They permit an organization to adjust to seasonal variances in expenses 
and income.

• They let an organization seize an unprecedented opportunity such as 
financing a new venture, making an advantageous capital purchase, or 
expanding a program at an opportune moment.

Organizations choose among various accounting techniques to measure 
needed reserve levels. Some calculate how many months they can operate 
without income. Others calculate various ratios. Some rely on three months’ 
worth of net assets without donor restrictions (many experts recommend 
six months).

Appropriate reserve levels differ from one organization to the next. The 
type of nonprofit is one factor, as is the organization’s stance regarding 
generational equity — meeting today’s needs at the expense of future ones. 
Organizations at different phases in their lifecycle also have dissimilar 
reserve needs. Stable income lowers vulnerability and need for substantial 
reserves. Astute risk management acts as a defense mechanism. Reserves 
can also generate income through short-term investments to help cover 
operating costs. Once the need assessment is complete, the board should 
implement a reserve policy.

Financial scenario planning. Anticipating and planning for undesirable events 
is the best way to minimize the effects of a negative event should one occur. 
Considerable effort should go into financial scenario planning as a part 
of the organization’s overall risk management plan. This type of scenario 
planning should be performed by the chief financial officer or other lead 
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financial staff under the direction and oversight of the finance committee, 
and it should identify as many critical financial uncertainties as reasonable 
to help assess the probability of the event or trend becoming reality. Draft 
scenarios should blend presumed financial trends with uncertainties, 
evaluate the possible outcomes, and discuss the steps needed to take to be 
ready for the potential situations.

Practicing regular scenario planning has the following benefits:

• Decision makers learn to be flexible and have potential answers ready. 
If worst-case situations actually happen, they won’t be as daunting to 
navigate because potential solutions have already been discussed.

• The planning process may surface options that otherwise would not 
have been discovered had the planners not forced themselves to be 
creative and go beyond the imaginable and reasonable. By posing 
questions, participants come to realize that there is not necessarily only 
one answer to a dilemma.

• Identifying and dissecting situations that may develop due to impending 
change make it easier to avoid the situation altogether or, should it 
happen, react to it in a timely manner before it escalates.

• The created scenarios may reveal the vulnerability of the organization 
or prove its strength and flexibility to change as everything around it 
changes.

Human Capital Risk
People Risk
Nonprofits face significant risk related to the staff, board, and populations 
served. Their physical safety, as well as other types of potential risks, needs 
to be identified and addressed as part of the risk management plan. The 
board is responsible for ensuring that the organization has a well-crafted 
set of personnel policies that comply with applicable laws and regulations 
and minimize organizational risk and exposure (see page 74). While the 
board may review the policies, the chief executive has primary responsibility 
for creating, disseminating, and implementing the policies for the staff. 
Individual board members may be able to leverage their human resources 
proficiency (or that of their professional network) to make suggestions 
when shaping or updating policies. Every two to three years, the board 
should ensure that legal counsel, management, and staff review the 
policies to determine if updates are needed. Again, the focus of the board 
is on ensuring compliance and minimizing risk to the organization, not on 
administering or enforcing policy.
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Nonprofits can face risk related to the populations they serve, including 
but not limited to privacy concerns, abuse, and physical safety, all of which 
should be mitigated and included as part of the risk management plan.

Executive Compensation
Compensation of the chief executive is a hotbed issue. If not managed 
effectively, it can pose serious public relations concerns for nonprofit 
organizations. Donors, charity watchdog groups, and the media often 
examine the executive compensation practices of nonprofits as an indicator 
of commitment to fiduciary responsibility and appropriateness. The board 
must be involved in determining the chief executive’s compensation 
package, in conjunction with an internal human resources leader or external 
compensation consultant, and ensure that the package is reasonable, 
negotiated at arm’s length, and not too closely dependent on the 
organization’s revenue.

The board’s role in staff compensation matters should be limited to 
approving the compensation plan developed by the chief executive. This 
process should include ensuring that the plan aligns with organizational 
values as well as verifying that it supports recruitment efforts and is 
realistic relative to the overall budget and resources. It is not appropriate 
for the board to review line-item details of individual employee salaries or 
to become involved in salary negotiations, but it is good practice for the 
board to review the overall compensation packages of senior staff whose 
compensation is included in the Form 990 to ensure appropriateness.

Chief Executive Succession Plan
Managing the departure of the chief executive and the recruitment, hiring, 
and installation of a new one is a complicated process that typically requires 
months of work. Boards can get ahead of the game by thinking through their 
desired course of action in either a planned or an emergency transition, 
a process referred to as succession planning. Board members should 
collaborate with the current chief executive on developing the succession 
plan, as that individual will likely provide valuable input. This practice — 
which should include ongoing updates to confirm that plans reflect the 
current operating environment — ensures that an executive transition is not 
unnecessarily drawn out by lack of clarity about the process and initial steps, 
which can have a serious negative impact on the organization. 

Unfortunately, according to Leading with Intent: 2017 National Index of 
Nonprofit Board Practices, only 27 percent of all organizations surveyed 
have a written chief executive succession plan. Given that all boards should 
be prepared to replace a chief executive at any time, they are putting their 
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organizations at risk. Resources on chief executive succession planning and 
transitions are available on the BoardSource website.

Please note that executive transitions also provide the board with an 
opportunity to openly discuss whether a strategic alliance or restructuring 
might enable the organization to amplify or accelerate its impact and what 
that might mean for future organizational leadership. A succession plan 
should incorporate this kind of discussion as a key step in an executive 
transition. Resources on this topic are available on The Power of Possibility 
website.   

Volunteers
Volunteers, who are vital to the success of many nonprofits, are sometimes 
overlooked when thinking about an organization’s overall risk management 
plan. Because volunteer service comes with a vast variety of skill sets, duties, 
and responsibilities, managing risks related to volunteers can be challenging. 
Conducting an analysis of such risks will help reduce the likelihood 
of incidents occurring. Staff are best suited to prepare the analysis in 
collaboration with the chief executive and the risk management committee 
or task force. To mitigate risk, it is important to incorporate safety training 
for volunteers when appropriate and to plan for incidents that could occur. 
The organization’s general liability insurance should cover volunteers and 
provide accident coverage in certain situations. It may be beneficial to task 
an appropriate staff member with managing risks related to the volunteer 
program, depending on the level of volunteer service.

Operational Risk
Regulatory Compliance
All nonprofits face some level of risk related to regulatory compliance, 
whether those requirements come from their individual states, the federal 
government, or other regulatory agreements they are subject to. Grant 
management, as well as charitable solicitation regulations, are forms of 
regulatory compliance and must not be taken lightly. Noncompliance with 
laws and guidelines exposes the organization to fines, penalties, lawsuits, 
loss of tax-exempt status, and a host of other negative consequences. 
Noncompliance with loan covenants is an example of a regulatory 
compliance that nonprofits often overlook. It is important to read and 
understand requirements in loan clauses so as not to violate a condition 
inadvertently. The risk management oversight committee should collaborate 
with the chief executive and chief financial officer to ensure that the 
organization complies with all laws and regulations.
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Physical Property Damage
Most organizations are aware of and have planned for property damage 
through insurance coverage. The board has an obligation to ensure that 
coverage is adequate to protect the organization’s assets and that a source 
of recovery is available to pay for harm caused by the nonprofit’s operations. 
This risk area should be addressed as part of the overall assessment of 
insurance coverage, as determined by the risk management oversight 
committee, in collaboration with the full board and chief executive.

Special Events
Many nonprofits hold special events such as fundraising dinners or golf 
outings to help increase awareness and revenue. These events differ in 
nature and scope from daily operations, so they may come with risks that 
are not readily apparent. They may be the only time that a nonprofit uses 
volunteer services, which raises another set of risks. Care should be taken 
to identify risks related to conducting special events and to address them 
proactively as part of the overall risk management strategy. As mentioned in 
the above section on volunteers, staff should spearhead the assessment of 
risk related to special events and report to the chief financial officer or risk 
management oversight committee.

Data and Cybersecurity
Nonprofits are susceptible to the ever-increasing risks related to data and 
cybersecurity. Electronic data breaches are common and can jeopardize the 
sensitive personally identifiable information (PII) that a nonprofit may collect, 
such as social security numbers, birth dates, donor information, clients’ medical 
records, employee records, and the like. Only 32 percent of all organizations 
surveyed for Leading with Intent 2017 have written protocols governing the 
security of PII. Electronic breaches also pose a reputational risk to nonprofits, 
as donors may lose confidence in an organization if they become aware that 
the appropriate systems are not in place to prevent hacking.

Nonprofit organizations communicate with a vast array of audiences in 
many different formats, posing a new set of risks related to electronic media. 
Accuracy of information and individual privacy are critical issues. Through 
collaboration with the chief executive and appropriate staff members, board 
members need to ensure that the security risks and regulations of email 
communications, websites, and online commerce are being addressed 
appropriately and that controls are in place with the help of either in-house 
or outsourced IT expertise.



FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    65

Risk Management Oversight 

Intellectual Property
There are two ways to look at risk related to intellectual property: the 
risk of failing to protect any intellectual property, and the risk that staff or 
volunteers associated with the nonprofit may violate copyright or trademark 
law on behalf of the organization. The responsibility of those charged with 
risk management is to assure the board that the organization has developed 
a plan to address both types of risk.

Reputational Risk
All of the types of risk mentioned in this chapter can become risks to the 
organization’s reputation. Consider the example of fraud. If an employee 
is caught stealing thousands of dollars from a nonprofit, the organization’s 
reputation is suddenly at risk when the media learns of the incident. 
Employee morale could also be damaged, which is a human capital risk. 
Similarly, noncompliance with a grant agreement can easily be viewed as 
both an operational risk and a financial risk, and potentially a reputational 
risk. The board has responsibility for recognizing that reputational risks exist, 
planning for them, and appropriately reacting to incidents. As Warren Buffet 
has said, “It takes 20 years to build a reputation and five minutes to ruin it. If 
you think about that, you’ll do things differently.” 

Other Risks Specific to Your Organization
As part of the overall risk assessment, each organization must attempt to 
identify both internal and external risks that are specific to the organization. 
An independent school, for example, may have risks related to bullying. 
An animal shelter will likely have risks related to potential animal attacks 
or contagious illnesses. To protect the organization, those charged with 
oversight of the risk management strategy must spend time brainstorming 
to consider as many potential risks as can be imagined — a productive 
exercise that should be conducted by staff as well as board members. An 
organization will benefit from varying perspectives on the question, “What 
can go wrong, and how can we prevent it?”

CRISIS COMMUNICATIONS
A strong risk management strategy and policy go a long way toward 
protecting an organization from adverse situations. But any organization can 
experience a crisis, internal or external. The response will depend on the 
nature of the crisis, its origin, and its potential impact.
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Nonprofits generally deal with two kinds of crises: emergencies and 
controversies. Emergencies are unpredictable events that wreak havoc on 
the organization and those it serves; they include everything from thefts 
and accidents to fires and tornadoes. Controversies are crises that threaten 
the organization’s reputation, such as legal disputes, leadership conflicts, 
or accusations of fraud. Regardless of the situation, a crisis communication 
policy is intended to help the board and staff act swiftly and consistently 
under stressful circumstances.

The follow-up to a policy is a crisis communications plan. In the event of 
a crisis, having a plan and following it is essential in avoiding, or at least 
minimizing negative effects. Staff members shoulder the responsibility for 
emergencies, but they often tap the board for support and resources. The 
chief executive and the board usually bear the burden of controversies, 
unless the chief executive is actually involved. To prepare for a crisis, 
procedures for communicating with the general public and the media — 
including a media relations policy — should be clearly defined before a crisis 
occurs.
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POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Creating nonprofit policies begins with knowing what they are. Policies 
are the operational guidelines that protect and steer the staff and board as 
they fulfill the mission of the organization. A nonprofit organization usually 
has board, personnel, and financial policies. Policies are reference tools 
for taking appropriate action, making ethical decisions, and addressing 
potential or actual conflicts of interest. They can paraphrase a law, explain a 
procedure, clarify a principle, or express a desired goal. When properly used, 
they help prevent embarrassing or potentially harmful situations, improper 
behavior, and ineffective decision making.

While this book focuses on financial policies, there can be overlap between 
types of policies. Many examples of sample policies, templates, and 
language can be found in other BoardSource publications or online (see 
Recommended Resources). Each organization should be intentional about 
creating and maintaining policies that are customized to suit its needs, yet 
not so specific that they are quickly obsolete. Policies should be reviewed 
and updated annually to ensure that they are accurate, relative, and 
represent the current business operation environment.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY 
A whistleblower policy encourages board members, staff, and volunteers to 
come forward with credible information on illegal practices or violations of 
the organization’s adopted policies.

The policy should be tailored to your organization, specify that the 
organization will protect the individual from retaliation, and identify staff, 
board members, and outside parties to whom such information should be 
reported. These procedures are encouraged to ensure compliance with 
the whistleblower provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and other 
applicable state and federal laws.

Sarbanes-Oxley brought about comprehensive reform of business practices 
to improve financial disclosures for corporations and prevent accounting 
fraud to protect investors. It sets standards for corporate management, 
boards of directors, and public accounting firms. The law pertains to publicly 
traded corporations, except for two provisions related to private loans to 
insiders and whistleblower protection, which apply to all entities. Nonprofits 
should consider voluntarily adopting its provisions as best practices, even 
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if not legally mandated. BoardSource’s topic paper, “The Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act and Implications for Nonprofits” (see Recommended Resources), 
summarizes the main provisions of the act and their relevance to nonprofits.

Sarbanes-Oxley imposes criminal liability on nonprofits for retaliation 
against whistleblowers who report federal offenses. In additional, 
several states require the adoption of a whistleblower policy. Nonprofit 
organizations that are required to file Form 990 with the IRS must disclose 
whether they have adopted a whistleblower policy. Checking the “no” box 
for this question may concern some readers of this public document.

The whistleblower policy should be included in the employee and 
board handbooks and displayed in all work locations. It is also helpful to 
remind employees occasionally that such a policy exists, and they should 
feel comfortable reporting anything that may come to their attention. 
Encouraging individuals to speak up helps promote an environment 
of transparency. You would much rather learn about a wrongdoing 
from someone inside your organization than from the media. Having a 
whistleblower policy in place can help avoid or minimize very negative 
situations.

DOCUMENT RETENTION AND DESTRUCTION POLICY
Document retention and document destruction are distinct but 
complementary issues. Document retention balances the need to maintain 
accurate and appropriate files with the challenge of limited physical and 
electronic archival storage space. All businesses need to keep documents 
that preserve institutional history for strategic planning, regulatory 
compliance, and legal purposes. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act forbids purging 
of documents when any organization — nonprofit or for-profit — is under 
federal investigation. Document destruction policies provide guidelines 
for the proper disposal of records and prevent destruction of relevant 
documentation if the organization is involved in litigation. It is a federal crime 
to alter, cover up, falsify, or destroy any document to prevent its use in an 
official proceeding. Retention and destruction policies are helpful under 
any circumstances. When in place, these policies not only help nonprofits 
retain appropriate historical and legal documentation, but they also clarify 
the steps to take if a federal investigation ever takes place. Nonprofits that 
are required to file IRS Form 990 are also required to disclose whether they 
have document retention and destruction policies.
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INVESTMENT POLICY
The legal responsibility for supervising investments resides squarely with 
the board of directors. Whatever authority other parties may have to 
influence or implement investment decisions, such authority should be 
shaped, guided, and constrained by the oversight of an informed board. 
Investment policies are not only for large organizations with considerable 
endowments. A responsible board makes sure that policies exist to get the 
best return from any cash surplus. Investment policies should be reviewed 
and revised as the organization grows.

The fundamental challenge for board members is to balance their legal 
responsibilities against the organization’s practical needs. The executive 
staff is almost always responsible for daily operations, with the chief 
financial officer — or sometimes the chief executive — handling investment 
operations and supervising outside service providers. But as much as the 
board depends on the executive team’s service, it may not abdicate its 
responsibility to supervise. Some boards create an investment committee 
for this purpose, while others delegate investment oversight to the finance 
committee.

Good investment policies help maintain the right balance. With effective 
policies and procedures, a board can be very active in supervising 
investments while still delegating authority, encouraging teamwork and 
community spirit, and articulating a common vision.

Board members must take three actions to discharge their legal and 
fiduciary responsibilities and build a structure that will best promote the 
organization’s investment goals. The laws governing fiduciary investing 
now clearly state that when a board takes these three steps, neither the 
organization nor individual board members will be liable for the actions of 
those to whom they delegate responsibilities, nor for investment losses.

1. Adopt investment policies — Written investment policies help ev-
eryone — board members, executive staff, and outside advisors 
— understand the organization’s investment goals and the risks it is 
willing to take to achieve those goals. Since perfection is not re-
quired, the first step is to adopt a policy and live with it for a while. 
You can always make changes based on your experience. A basic in-
vestment policy identifies the assets available for investing, defines 
general investment objectives, sets asset allocation parameters (e.g., 
diversification), and clarifies the organization’s tolerance for risk (by 
defining required ratings).
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2. Consider hiring an outside investment advisor — The board should not 
be choosing among specific investments (everything from stocks 
and bonds to hedge funds and other alternative investments). Dele-
gating this responsibility to someone else is not only permissible but 
preferable, assuming that the board is conscientious and careful in 
its choice. An investment policy often defines the role of an invest-
ment manager in day-to-day management of the funds, specifies his 
or her accountability (such as risk in transactions, reporting require-
ments, and coverage of cash flow needs), and designates a board 
committee or the full board to monitor the manager’s performance 
and that of the portfolio. In the absence of an outside advisor, the 
board will monitor the staff’s performance in managing the portfolio 
within the parameters of the investment policy in the same manner.

3. Review the investment advisor’s or staff’s performance — Hiring an 
investment advisor is not a one-time event. The board’s legal re-
sponsibilities are not discharged unless the board, or its investment 
committee or other designated committee, regularly reviews the 
advisor (or staff’s) work and the organization’s adherence to estab-
lished policies in a disciplined manner. This is so central to sound 
investing that any qualified advisor should present a recommended 
review process as part of the package of services.

The good news is that these three actions represent a major portion of a 
board’s duties in supervising investments. After the board has taken care 
of the basics, its job is to support the staff, beneficiaries, and investment 
advisors by standing firm in its decisions and giving the basics time to work. 
This means, among other things, having the courage to resist impulsive 
policy changes during tough times and refusing to allow the occasional 
downturn in results to cause hurried changes in allocations.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
When a transaction occurs between two parties in which one party is able 
to directly or indirectly exercise control over or significantly influence the 
other party, that transaction is a related-party transaction. To maintain its tax-
exempt status, a nonprofit organization must serve the public interest rather 
than a private interest, so it must avoid related-party transactions that can 
be construed as benefitting a private interest. An example of a related-party 
transaction would be an organization purchasing services, such as graphic 
design or computer services, from a company owned by a board member. 
Another example is a board member whose spouse is on the staff of the 
same nonprofit organization in a financial role.
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The board should create a policy on related-party transactions that 
establishes a systematic way of handling them. In each case, the board 
should evaluate the facts and circumstances around a proposed related-
party transaction, including the costs versus the benefits, whether it would 
create an actual or perceived conflict of interest, and whether it would be 
similar to a comparable one with an unrelated party. In addition, the related 
party should be required to recuse himself or herself from the decision-
making process related to the transaction. If the board decides it is in the 
best interest of the nonprofit to allow the related-party transaction to occur, 
the organization may be required to report the transaction on the Form 990, 
Schedule L, and to disclose it in the financial statements.

RESERVE AND ENDOWMENT POLICIES 
The distinction between reserves and endowments is significant. An 
endowment is a pool of money that is invested so the income can be used 
to support the nonprofit. Often, donors have restricted these funds so that 
the principal cannot be used to cover day-to-day expenses. Reserve funds 
are more flexible. They usually come from the accumulated surpluses of 
the organization over time, can be spent to expand programs and run the 
organization, and are usually designated or allocated by the board.

With a policy on operating reserves, the board ensures that the organization 
is ready to react to unexpected events. Reserve policies will state the 
required reserve level in terms of months-of-operating cash, meaning that, 
should all sources of income stop, the organization would be able to keep 
running for that period of time. Board approval is usually required for any 
disbursements from the reserves fund.

By drafting a policy on endowments, the board guarantees that the 
permanent fund is truly dedicated to the originally intended purpose. 
Establishing an endowment fund requires a special policy that defines its 
purpose, fund management, investment approach, and how the money will 
be disbursed. When created by donors, endowment funds are bound by 
legal agreements. The donors’ wishes need to be respected, and the money 
can be used only for the assigned purpose. While the board can change 
restrictions pertaining to the use of operating reserves, it cannot change 
the original restrictions of an endowment fund. Generally, endowments 
of private foundations must disburse 5 percent of the net assets annually. 
Many nonprofits traditionally use the same percentage when determining 
the disbursement rate for endowment funds. Responsibility for monitoring 
the board-designated reserve is often delegated to the finance and/or 
investment committee.
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ENDOWMENT TYPES
Endowments are allotments of money, or income-producing assets, for which the 
principal balance usually must remain intact. Endowments can be established by 
a nonprofit and/or gifted by a donor. The principal may be added to over time with 
the purpose of generating future income for the nonprofit organization’s use to 
further its exempt purpose.

There are two types of endowments: those with restrictions and those without 
restrictions.

Endowments with restrictions include the following:

•	 Permanently restricted endowment — The original gift (principal) 
remains intact; income generated from the principal can be used for 
either a donor-specified purpose or for the general operations of the 
organization.

•	 Temporarily restricted or term endowment — The donor stipulates that 
the principal can be spent only after a period of time has passed or until 
a certain event has occurred.

Endowments without restrictions include the following:

•	 Unrestricted endowment — Assets can be used at the discretion of the 
recipient nonprofit.

•	 Quasi endowment — Assets that are treated like an endowment for 
investment purposes, but are earmarked by the nonprofit board rather 
than by a donor, with no legal restrictions attached.

LIQUIDITY POLICY
Under the new FASB accounting regulations, nonprofit organizations are 
required to provide certain additional information useful in assessing 
liquidity and availability of resources. It should appear in a footnote 
disclosure that includes both qualitative and quantitative information about 
how the organization manages liquid resources available to meet cash 
needs for general expenditures within one year of the statement of financial 
position date.

GIFT ACCEPTANCE POLICY
A gift acceptance policy describes which kinds of gifts the organization 
accepts and whether any approval is required. Gifts such as cash or publicly 
traded securities can easily be used to further the organization’s mission, but 
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some real estate gifts or gifts-in-kind may not be useful to the organization 
and may result in additional expenses. Therefore, the gift acceptance policy 
may require that the board review these types of gifts before receipt. The 
policy should clearly state that the organization will not provide advice about 
the tax treatment of gifts. Also, a clearly stated gift acceptance policy can be 
helpful to development staff, as it provides them with consistent guidelines 
to fall back on when dealing with well-meaning donors who offer certain 
types of gifts that the organization as a whole has decided it cannot accept.

LOANS POLICY
The IRS and the Senate Finance Committee are attentive to tax-exempt 
organizations that provide loans to board members and staff. State laws 
vary on the legality of loans to board members, so knowledge of one’s own 
state statutes is a threshold issue in this regard. There is no federal law that 
prohibits loans to board members, except in private foundations, where 
all self-dealing — a financial transaction between the board member and 
foundation — is illegal. However, foundations, as well as other nonprofits, 
are permitted to reasonably compensate board members for their 
governance roles and when they provide necessary professional services to 
the organization. The assets of a nonprofit are to be spent for its tax-exempt 
purpose. Even if extending a loan to a board member is not illegal, it can 
be perceived as improper. Key elements of a policy regarding loans include 
clarification on the reasons why the organization would or would not grant 
loans, and a discussion of who is covered by the policy. Because loans 
must be disclosed on the Form 990, board members must decide if they 
are comfortable with loan transactions being public, and should consider 
potential negative implications of such.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
One of the board’s responsibilities is to safeguard the organization’s 
resources — both human and financial. By putting a risk-management 
policy in writing, the organization communicates its commitment to 
managing potential organizational threat. This policy statement reflects 
the organization’s mission and purpose, states the intent of the program, 
and lists the actions that others throughout the organization can take to 
contribute to the organization’s risk management efforts. Risk management 
is such a critical element in fiduciary oversight that we have devoted an 
entire chapter to this topic (see Chapter 5).
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SIGNING AUTHORITIES
A key component of internal control is having the proper signing authorities 
in place, both for internal approvals and as guidance for banking institutions. 
Because board member terms expire, having board members as signers on 
bank accounts can be onerous, as new authorizations need to be set up as 
positions change and terms end. Due to the small size of some nonprofits, 
however, it may be necessary to have board members as signers for the 
purposes of an appropriate internal control structure. It is never advisable to 
have only one person as a check signer, for obvious reasons.

As a part of the internal control structure design and implementation, the 
organization should determine appropriate signing authority levels for 
banking transactions such as check signing, ACH approvals, bank transfers, 
wire activity, and “positive pay” activities (a mechanism that banks use to pay 
checks from an approved list that the customer has entered into the banking 
system to prevent against fraudulent check writing).

In addition, a set of internal authorities should be documented and adhered 
to for internal approvals such as purchasing, payroll processes, and 
committing organizational resources to perform services or provide goods 
(contracts). 

ORGANIZATION CREDIT CARD POLICY
All organizations that allow the use of organization credit cards by 
employees should have a policy outlining the rules that govern the usage 
of the credit cards, including the spending and other limitations and 
requirements of the employees/cardholders. The policy should also describe 
the repercussions for misuse of the company card.

PERSONNEL GUIDELINES
Strong human resource policies, procedures, and practices are essential 
in nonprofits to minimize risk and increase transparency and should be 
addressed in the organization’s overall risk management policy (see Chapter 
5). Some areas to consider when developing your guidelines include, but are 
not limited to, the following:

• At-will employment
• Equal employment
• Non-discrimination
• Anti-harassment

• Confidentiality
• Privacy and PII (personally 

identifiable information)
• Conflict of interest



FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    75

Policies and Procedures

• Whistleblower
• Professional conduct or code of 

conduct
• Drug and alcohol use
• Use of company equipment 
• Accident reporting and workers 

compensation
• Performance review process
• Personnel files
• Job classifications
• Working schedules: hours of 

operation, overtime, flex-time, 
attendance

• Inclement weather
• Compensation and benefits
• Progressive disciplinary issues

• Termination (voluntary and 
involuntary)

• Concern, complaint, and 
grievance resolution processes

• Nepotism
• Personal appearance
• Personal phone, organization 

and personal email, Web, and 
social media usage

• Leave policies
• Company credit card usage and 

expense reimbursements
• Safety and emergency 

procedures and preparedness
• Employment verifications and 

references 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL
A critical component of a strong financial management system is a thorough 
manual of accounting policies and procedures. Documented policies and 
procedures ensure consistency in processing financial transactions and 
also provide staff with guidelines to follow and use to train new employees. 
Board members should ensure that the financial staff has created an 
accounting manual that it regularly reviews and updates.

Specific policies and procedures differ among organizations, but all 
accounting manuals should contain these basic components: procedures 
around all aspects of cash management, receivables, payables, payroll, 
internal control processes that incorporate and document segregation of 
duties, financial reporting, budgeting, the audit preparation process, and 
roles and responsibilities of the financial staff.

A current accounting policies and procedures manual is an essential part 
of an overall business continuity plan (see Chapter 5). In the event of an 
unexpected disruption in staff and/or business operations, the manual 
is invaluable for those stepping in to perform critical financial functions. 
The manual should be written so that an accountant unfamiliar with the 
organization can understand why the processes are in place and how to 
perform them.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS
Internal controls define the policies and processes, levels of authority, 
measures of safety, tools for monitoring and record keeping, and all the 
other necessary guidelines that allow a nonprofit to function in a secure 
and reliable environment. Good controls both deter and detect improper 
behavior by staff and volunteers. They eliminate vulnerability, suspicion, 
errors, mismanagement, and fraud within the organization. To work properly, 
the system of internal control should be well designed and maintained. As a 
board member, it is your responsibility to ensure that the staff has instituted 
a reliable system, that it is well maintained, and that a culture of integrity and 
transparency is promoted. Proactive thinking recognizes internal controls 
as good business practices, effective administrative processes, and smart 
management and governance. Segregation of duties (see below) is an 
example of a highly important internal control.

Some items are not internal controls, although sometimes they are 
mistakenly assumed to be:

• External auditors — The audit committee and the board treasurer should 
communicate directly with the external auditors for their assessment 
of the adequacy of the design and function of the current system of 
internal control. The auditors are a useful resource when thinking 
through the types of internal controls an organization should have, but 
they are by no means a substitute for an effective system.

• Trust — No matter how long an employee has worked for an 
organization or how much confidence and faith the board has in them, 
trust absolutely cannot be a substitute for internal controls. Trustworthy 
employees will have no problem with implementing processes that 
help protect the organization from the misuse of assets and provide 
a functioning system that extends beyond their employment. Internal 
controls typically provide a layer of protection for employees as well, 
so they can avoid being blamed inadvertently for something they did 
not do. Be alert to this red flag: If an employee resists added layers of 
internal control, that is cause for concern, and the root of the resistance 
should be investigated.

• Insurance — While insurance, including D&O insurance, is important 
as part of an overall risk management plan (see Chapter 5), it is a 
completely different type of protection than a system of internal 
control. Internal controls prevent and deter misappropriation of assets; 
insurance coverage protects the organization and the directors and 
officers if there is an incident or event that could cause the organization 
to incur an unexpected outlay of funds.
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Segregation of Duties
A key concept defining internal controls relates to segregation of duties, or 
the separation of key processes. Simply stated, one person alone should 
not be in a position to handle a financial transaction from the beginning until 
the end. The way bank reconciliations are handled is one example. All bank 
reconciliations should be performed by someone other than the person(s) 
performing cash transactions (such as making bank deposits and writing 
checks), done in a timely manner (no later than a week or two after month 
end), and reviewed by another individual who understands the cash cycles 
and is trained on what to look for.

The level of segregation of duties in an organization will depend on its size, 
but even very small nonprofits need to incorporate this practice to prevent 
the misuse of assets. This may take some creativity. The board treasurer or 
other board members may have to have a more hands-on role in a small 
organization, and the use of technology and/or outsourcing should be 
leveraged.

Fraud
The lack of internal controls is one of the most common reasons for fraud 
occurring in nonprofits. A significant deterrent to fraud is a no-tolerance 
environment, with all staff understanding that acts of fraud will be 
prosecuted. Fraud occurs in two forms: the deliberate misstatement of the 
accounts in the financial statements and the misappropriation of assets. 
Both forms should be of equal concern to you as a board member, as each 
represents intentional dishonest behavior.

Deliberate misstatement of accounts or omission of financial statement 
data intentionally mislead the reader and create an incorrect representation 
of the organization’s financial condition. Misstatements of accounts can 
happen in a variety of ways, but the most common are recognizing revenue 
improperly, overstating assets, understating liabilities, and omitting or 
making improper disclosures on the financial statements.

Misappropriation of assets is the most widely recognized form of fraud and 
can take the form of stealing money or other assets, such as inventory or 
supplies. Stealing money can happen through check tampering, falsifying 
expense reimbursements or payroll records, or invoicing and receivable 
schemes. Unfortunately, this list is not all-inclusive, and we are frequently 
reminded in the news of ways people have attempted to perpetrate fraud.
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ACCOUNTING SYSTEMS AND TECHNOLOGY
An organization uses its accounting systems to collect, store, process, 
and report financial transactions and data. Manual accounting systems 
are more susceptible to fraud, so investing staff time in researching the 
proper accounting software for your nonprofit is well worth the effort. 
The right software for your organization does not always mean the 
most sophisticated. An extremely complex accounting system may have 
limitations that a smaller package may not. It is worth noting, however, 
that the larger or more complex a nonprofit’s programs, departments, and 
funding sources are, the more sophisticated software it may need. The 
capacity to integrate with other organizational software systems that house 
accounting data should also be considered. Nonprofits are increasingly using 
technology to enhance their engagement and reach, fundraising efforts, and 
digital presence. It is important to make sure all systems are aligned and 
scalable to allow for future growth.

Financial staff and senior management should evaluate the accounting 
system periodically to make sure it matches the organization’s needs or 
decide that it should be changed. Because the external auditors have a bird’s-
eye view of the organization and understand the accounting systems and 
requirements, they are a good resource for recommendations in this area.

FINANCIAL TRANSPARENCY 
The importance of organizational and financial transparency cannot be 
overemphasized. The public has the right to know whether a nonprofit is 
well managed, properly governed, and financially secure, as well as whether 
it abides by ethical standards and values, obeys the law, and functions 
in a productive and resourceful manner. By sharing information with its 
supporters and other stakeholders, a nonprofit avoids secrecy and performs 
its activities in a transparent manner.

Transparency is key to earning the public’s trust. Without trust, there are no 
supporters. Without supporters, it is impossible to flourish and advance the 
mission of the organization. Equally, transparency is a tool for accountability. 
When the board assumes its role as the accountable body for the 
organization, it ties performance to meeting goals. With clear objectives and 
guidelines within a transparent structure, responsiveness and responsibility 
work hand in hand.
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Public Documents
Nonprofits are legally obligated to share a few documents with the public 
or their members. IRS Form 990, described in detail in Chapter 4, is a 
nonprofit’s number one transparency tool. With some exceptions, every 
tax-exempt organization must share this form from the past three years with 
anyone requesting it. One easy way to meet this requirement is to post the 
forms on your nonprofit’s website. The following public documents also 
contribute to transparency:

• IRS Form 990-T indicates what types of unrelated business activities the 
organization was involved in.

• IRS Forms 1023 and 1024 are the tax-exemption application forms that 
explain the organization’s original purpose and allow those interested to 
verify that the primary mandate is still being respected.

• Specific financial documents must be made available to members as 
state laws specify. Know your state requirements if you have a formal 
membership organization.

• Board meeting notices must be posted and board meeting minutes must 
be available to the public if the organization is covered by state sunshine 
or open meeting laws. 

Private Information and Documents
Nonprofits have no obligation to share the planning documents that allow 
them to remain competitive, prepare for the future, or simply brainstorm 
about future possibilities. Confidential material that would jeopardize the 
reputation or integrity of an individual must remain undisclosed. Examples 
of these documents include the following:

• The budget, however accurate, is still a plan and should not be disclosed. 
Anything can happen to change that plan. The financial statements, on 
the other hand, show how the organization’s budgetary plans came to 
life and serve as indicators of the financial activities that took place. They 
should be disclosed.

• Minutes of board executive sessions are distributed only to board 
members or anyone else present at the meeting. Confidential issues 
are the most common reason to have an executive session, so this rule 
makes sense. However, while discussions in executive sessions should 
be kept private, any actual decisions made must be included in the 
board meeting minutes, which are public documents.

• Historically, donors have had a right to remain anonymous and not have 
their names disclosed to anyone outside the senior staff and board. 
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However, because rules vary and change, we recommend you check 
your state and federal laws pertaining to this matter. The list of all 
donors that is attached to Schedule B of Form 990 is not part of public 
disclosure.   

• Private addresses of board members can remain private. On Form 990, 
it is no longer necessary to provide addresses for individual board 
members, but if board members (or key employees) cannot be reached 
via the organizational address, another address must be disclosed on 
Schedule O.

• Personnel files are private files. Even board members usually should have 
no need to see them.

• Patient and client information should not be shared with outsiders. In the 
health care field, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
(HIPAA) protects medical records.

Openness about how the board and the organization operate is the easiest 
way to garner goodwill. A climate of secrecy only invites curiosity. Your 
website is the most obvious location to introduce the organization to those 
interested in its activities.
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GOOD INTENTIONS, WEAK OVERSIGHT

Happy Tails German Shepherd Rescue
Happy Tails German Shepherd Rescue is a small nonprofit organization 
formed in Illinois that has one paid employee (chief executive Carla Lee) 
and engages volunteers to fulfill its mission of providing rescue and 
adoption services for abandoned and abused German Shepherd dogs of 
all ages and mixes. Happy Tails’ revenue sources are contributions from 
the general public, proceeds from highly popular fundraising events, and 
adoption fees. Its expenses include the chief executive’s salary, veterinarian 
fees, transportation fees, and supplies for the dogs. The organization pays 
minimal monthly rent for its facility, thanks to a generous landlord who funds 
most of the costs related to the property. Over its 15-year history, Happy 
Tails has accumulated a surplus of about $100,000 in net assets without 
donor restrictions in the form of cash. Because of the amount of charitable 
funding it receives, Happy Tails has never been required by the state or 
anyone else to obtain an audit, nor does that requirement exist in its bylaws. 
Everyone who has served on the eight-member board has been passionate 
about the mission, but turnover has typically been significant. Lack of time 
seems to be the reason why most board members resign.

Board members receive quarterly financial reports that include a balance 
sheet and a profit-and-loss statement printed out from QuickBooks, the 
accounting package that Carla uses. The board decided a few years ago to 
contract with a payroll service to ensure that all employment tax payments 
were made properly. Carla enters the net amount of her paychecks into 
QuickBooks, so that the cash is correct when she does the bank reconciliation. 

Fortunately, Cecilia Jackson, a long-time volunteer, included the organization 
in her will, and so Happy Tails finds itself with $250,000 — a welcome windfall 
for a small nonprofit. The board is excited to get together to discuss what to 
do with the money. Its members have visions of building kennels, installing air 
conditioning, waiving adoption fees, and increasing the chief executive’s salary. 
After a short discussion, they agree to this plan and set it in motion.

Fast-forward six months, when the board learns that due to Cecilia’s sizeable 
donation, the State of Illinois requires Happy Tails to have an annual audit. 
After making some calls, board treasurer John Coates decides that Jones & 
Associates, a local CPA firm, is the best choice to conduct the audit. John is 
familiar with the documentation a CPA requires to prepare IRS Form 990, 
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but he quickly finds out that an audit is more complicated. Reviewing the 
list of items needed to perform the audit, John senses that the necessary 
documentation might be lacking, so he schedules a few hours at Happy Tails 
for the auditor to meet with Carla.

During the meeting, auditor Mark Lewis asks Carla a lot of questions about 
current and past internal controls, but she cannot provide many answers. 
She has good control over the money, she explains, because she is the only 
one that touches it. That’s the way it always has been. She enters all of the 
transactions into QuickBooks. She prides herself on using trustworthy 
volunteers at fundraisers, such as her family, her friends, and their young-
adult children. After all, these events bring in a lot of revenue, and she wants 
to make sure nothing is being stolen. She takes all of the cash to the bank 
the day after the fundraiser and makes the deposit herself, just to be safe.

As Mark starts digging into the numbers, he notices a certificate of deposit 
account for which there is no bank statement. “Oh, I opened that CD in my 
name,” Carla says. “I could get a better interest rate than they were offering 
for businesses.” To open a business CD account, the bank needed an officer 
of the corporation to be present, and Carla insists that wouldn’t have been 
practical because everyone is so busy. “I got a cashier’s check from the 
Happy Tails bank account and used it to open the CD,” she says. “I have that 
statement, and I’ll grab it from my house and bring it in tomorrow.”

Mark continues to go over the information, but he hears Carla say, “That’s 
the way I have always done it,” more often than he would like. Carla readily 
provides receipts for the purchase of items such as new kennels and air 
conditioning units. But when Mark asks her what the capitalization policy is, 
she replies that the CPA firm that handles the 990 always “does things with 
the QuickBooks file to make it right.” What about allocation of expenses? 
This was a new concept for Carla. She says she always works at the shelter 
with the dogs, unless she is coordinating a fundraising event and needs to 
be elsewhere. She sometimes spends time writing grant applications, too, 
but she can’t quantify how much time because the organization doesn’t 
apply for grants often and has never been awarded any grant money.

Mark explores other issues, asking about the agreement related to the 
donated property that Happy Tails uses. Carla says there was never a 
written agreement, but the property owners have charged her $500 a month 
for the past 15 years and say they will not increase the rent as long as Happy 
Tails is the tenant. When comparing veterinarian expenses from the past 
few years to the year he is auditing, Mark wonders why the amount has 
decreased so much. Could it be that the dogs are healthier and do not need 
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as much attention? It’s just the opposite, Carla says. They’ve needed so much 
care that a board member had the great idea to put out a plea to local vets 
to ask them to donate their time one day a month to help the sick animals. 
They’ve gotten a great response. Mark asks who tracks those hours and how 
they are valued, as they likely constitute donated services that need to be 
recorded. Carla says she could try to get in touch with the vets and ask them 
how much time they have donated, but she’s not sure she will be able to get 
them all to respond.

With much chagrin, Mark goes back to his office and shares what he learned 
at Happy Tails with one of the other partners. After some discussion, the 
firm decides it will need to issue a disclaimer of opinion because the audit is 
not broad enough in scope to enable it to form an opinion. The firm points 
to the lack of substantiation for beginning balances, the lack of internal 
controls, and improper financial oversight. Mark contacts the treasurer to tell 
him of the firm’s decision, and he offers to complete the organization’s Form 
990. Mark also schedules a meeting with the board to suggest some internal 
controls that can be implemented. The board is aware that the State of 
Illinois will require the organization to submit an audit with its next charitable 
registration and will likely put the registration on hold once it receives the 
disclaimer of opinion.

When the time comes to renew Happy Tails’ registration, the board sends in 
the completed Form 990, along with the disclaimer of opinion from the CPA 
firm and a letter explaining that the organization is rectifying the situation 
and plans to submit audited financial statements in the next 12 months. The 
state responds with a letter stating that if Happy Tails doesn’t provide an 
audited financial statement within 90 days, its charitable registration will be 
suspended, and it will no longer be able to accept charitable donations. Carla 
and the board are shocked, because contributions are the organization’s 
main source of income. They work on implementing the internal control 
recommendations and search for another CPA firm that might issue a 
different opinion. But they are unsuccessful.

Fast-forward another six months. Happy Tails has missed the state’s 90-
day audit deadline. Carla and the board have spent a significant amount 
of Happy Tails money on outsourced professional services, including 
accounting and legal fees, trying to resolve the problem, to no avail. With 
its charitable registration on hold, Happy Tails has had to stop accepting 
donations. Sadly, the board has considered the time and money it would 
take to resolve the financial situation and decided that the best solution is to 
dissolve the 501(c)(3) and disburse the remaining assets to another nonprofit 
with a similar mission.
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What Should the Board Have Done? 
Unfortunately, the Happy Tails story is more common than you might think, 
especially in small nonprofits. It is a perfect example of well-intentioned 
individuals who are passionate about their cause and trying to do the right 
thing, but because the board has not provided proper financial oversight, 
the organization must close. There was no intentional fraud or malfeasance 
— just a lack of education on proper financial oversight. The fallout in this 
case extended beyond Happy Tails. The local community became aware of 
the situation and heard false rumors that it involved fraud. People became 
wary of donating to other small nonprofits in the community. If you can’t 
trust Happy Tails, whom can you trust? The effects of improper financial 
oversight can go beyond just a single nonprofit to hurt the entire sector.

A board that was educated on proper financial oversight could easily have 
improved the situation at Happy Tails and probably saved the organization. 
Educated board members should have done the following:

• Included a section in the bylaws requiring an independent audit be 
performed each year and then ensured that it was done

• Noticed and addressed the lack of internal controls immediately and, 
as an added control, outsourced the financial work to an outside 
accountant with knowledge of nonprofit accounting

• Expressed dissatisfaction with the level and quality of financials they 
were receiving and asked for more details

• Realized Happy Tails was receiving substantial donated services, such 
as discounted rent and pro bono veterinarian services, and questioned 
why these were not in the financials

• Asked questions about the certificate of deposit, which would likely 
have surfaced the fact that it was in the chief executive’s name
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EMPLOYEE FRAUD FALLS UNDER THE RADAR

Caring Children’s Home
Caring Children’s Home (CCH) was established in 1950 as a short- and long-
term residential facility for children ages 5 to 18 who need supervised care. 
Its funding includes grants from the State of Colorado as well as significant 
revenue from private donations. Ed Smith, the chief executive, has been in 
his role for 20 years. Phyllis Taylor has been the controller for about 30 years 
and is Ed’s most trusted employee. She rarely takes vacation time, and if she 
does, it’s only for a few days here and there. She even comes to work when 
she is sick.

CCH obtains an annual audit each year, as it is required to do. The auditors 
always assess internal controls, and, in management letters over time, they 
have indicated that the segregation of duties could be improved, because 
Phyllis has a lot of control over the financial information. The management 
letter comments have not identified any significant deficiencies or material 
weaknesses.

The board receives the management letters and talks about what it can do 
to improve the segregation of duties. It does not hold executive sessions 
with the auditors. Over the years, controls have been instituted requiring 
the chief executive to sign all checks and the board treasurer to review the 
bank reconciliations each month. The treasurer dutifully compares all of the 
cancelled checks to the printout of disbursements she receives. This process 
has been in place for years.

Suddenly, Phyllis is involved in an automobile accident and winds up in the 
hospital. She tells Ed that there is nothing urgent that can’t wait until she 
is better, but she asks for her computer. If she is not back to work by next 
week, she says, he can just hand-write the payroll checks, and she will work 
with the accounting clerk over the phone on any other necessary items. She 
will handle everything else when she gets back.

After two weeks, Phyllis’s condition has deteriorated, and she can no longer 
communicate. Ed informs the board of her situation, and it agrees to get 
some outside accounting help to catch up on the financials because CCH 
has a state funding report due next month. The organization engages an 
accounting firm, which sends Karen Williams to provide controller services. 
After a few days of figuring out the lay of the land, it is time for Karen to cut 
checks for Ed to sign. She reviews the checks that have been issued for the 
first half of the year with the accounting clerk to flag any that she might have 
missed. The accounting clerk says there should be an invoice from WKND 



86     © 2018 BoardSource 

Case Studies

Cleaning, the cleaning service CCH uses to clean the housing units on 
weekends. Karen looks at the company’s file and sees that WKND typically 
sends weekly invoices in the amount of $250, but there haven’t been any for 
about a month.

Karen sees that the maintenance supervisor is the one who always approves 
the invoices for payment, so she asks him if he has recently discontinued 
WKND’s services. Surprised by the question, he says that CCH does not use 
weekend cleaning services unless there is a weekend event, and when it 
does, it uses the regular daily cleaning vendor.

Karen is confused and goes to Ed, who says that yes, he has signed WKND 
checks for years, and he doesn’t sign any checks without the proper invoice 
approval. Together they start to review the invoices, all of which appear to 
be approved by the maintenance supervisor. They look for a contract with 
WKND but come up empty. They decide to call the cleaning service but find 
only a post office box address on the invoice and no phone number or email 
address. An online search reveals no website for WKND Cleaning. They start 
to think that WKND might not exist, and then they begin to put the puzzle 
pieces together. After some further investigation, they discover that trusted 
employee Phyllis opened a bank account in the name of WKND Cleaning 
and has been paying herself $250 a week, or $13,000 annually, for the entire 
20 years that Ed has been chief executive.

The director of facilities reviews the actual-to-budget financials for the 
facilities program, which he has been receiving from Phyllis each month. 
They show no budget variance in cleaning expense. Only after this problem 
is discovered does he compare the total annual budgeted amount to 
the final budget he prepared. It is the first time he has ever made this 
comparison. He notices that the monthly reports show a total budget that is 
$13,000 higher than what he actually submitted. Apparently, Phyllis has been 
producing false financial statements specifically for the director of facilities 
so he would not notice the budget variance. Quarterly reports, which 
include an annual budget amount that agrees with the annual budget that 
the board approved, were also sent to the board. But because maintenance 
is such a big expense for Caring Children’s Home, no one questions a 
$13,000 difference between budgeted and actual cleaning expenses. On the 
other hand, Ed has never paid much attention when reviewing the quarterly 
financials that were sent to the board, because he saw monthly financials 
and felt comfortable that they were accurate. If he had done a more careful 
review, he might have noticed and questioned the variance.
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What Should the Board Have Done?
Caring Children’s Home became the victim of employee fraud — a risk that 
every nonprofit should diligently manage and prevent. In this case, because 
of Phyllis’s medical condition, it was too late for recourse. In its response to 
this incident, Caring Children’s Home asked its audit firm how best to handle 
the situation and put appropriate internal controls in place to deter and 
prevent fraud in the future.

Determining the next steps is a bit tricky, because it may appear on the 
surface that the board and Ed were providing the proper financial oversight. 
But the board should have taken some actions that would have prevented 
this situation or caught it sooner: 

• Insisted on executive sessions (without staff present) with the auditors. 
Although the audit firm did not discover the fraud, it had mentioned that 
the controller had too much control. The auditor would undoubtedly 
have addressed this topic in an executive session and suggested how to 
further strengthen the internal controls. The executive session, if held 
every year, might have reinforced a culture of transparency and deterred 
Phyllis from doing what she did.

• Advised the chief executive to not place so much trust in one individual 
and insisted on the appropriate segregation of duties. One person had 
too much control over the money and the financials, and her apparent 
dedication to her job was simply another way to conceal her activities.

• Ensured that systems were in place that would surface altered financial 
statements. In the two decades that Phyllis had been getting away with 
this scheme, Ed apparently had not once asked to see the contract with 
WKND Cleaning or noticed the budget variance for the facilities program 
in the overall budget reports that the board received.

• Insisted that financial employees be required to take vacations, 
preferably for one to two weeks at a time. Often, this is how 
organizations catch fraud. Phyllis would take only a few days at a time, 
so she could always be there to cover her tracks.
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UNPREPARED FOR EMERGENCIES

Greene Falls Hospice Care
Greene Falls Hospice Care, a 501(c)(3) organization in Maryland, provides 
home hospice care services and support to terminally ill people and their 
families and caregivers. The organization employs a chief executive, Lisa 
Smith; an office manager, Maria Gonzalez; four nurses; and a volunteer 
coordinator, Jim Johnson. In addition to paid employees, Greene Falls uses 
the services of about 25 volunteers who are trained in home hospice care. 
Lisa, Maria, and Jim work out of a central office; the nurses and volunteers 
are most often out in the community providing services. The board meets 
regularly at the office, and prides itself on proper oversight and careful 
review of the financials. Board members have heard about business 
continuity plans, but because the organization’s clients don’t visit the office 
and the risk of needing one is low, the board has procrastinated about 
ensuring that a plan is in place.

One summer evening, a torrential rain floods the area, doing serious 
damage. Greene Falls office is not spared. While the organization 
uses computers, it is not paperless, and its client files are paper files. 
Furthermore, it had not set up remote access to its server, which is 
located in the office and stores data from the accounting, email, volunteer 
management, and fundraising systems.

Greene Falls does have an emergency phone tree for staff and volunteers, 
so the day after the flood everyone learns that the office cannot be accessed 
for an indefinite time period. Panic builds rather than recedes, as one 
stressed person calls another. The board assembles by phone and agrees to 
meet at a board member’s house that night with Lisa, Maria, and Jim. They 
are in crisis mode, as Lisa shares all the issues and concerns that the staff 
and volunteers have raised.

Jim, the volunteer coordinator, keeps the schedule of volunteers and clients 
on his work computer, which is inaccessible. He doesn’t remember who 
is assigned to which client. He scrambles to get in touch with the nurses 
and volunteers, but he doesn’t have all of their contact information in 
his smartphone. He spends most of the day trying to reach the staff and 
volunteers to find out the status of their cases and what their upcoming 
schedules are supposed to be. He can’t reach everyone, but does manage 
to get in touch with most. They all say they will do their best to help contact 
the others and have them call Jim. Unfortunately, the staff is not sure if 
the nurses and volunteers have their clients’ contact information available 
remotely or if they rely on files kept at the flooded office. They scramble to 
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get their arms around the current client load and status of communications 
with them.

Naturally, employees are wondering how they are going to be paid. Each 
week, they send their hours by fax or email to Maria, who processes payroll 
in-house every two weeks. They are due to be paid at the end of the week, 
but because the office is closed, Maria cannot even hand-write payroll 
checks because they are locked in the office safe. There seems to be no 
short-term solution to this problem.

Greene Falls website includes a phone number to call if you or your family 
member needs hospice care. There is voicemail, but the instructions to 
access it remotely are at the office, so potential new clients in need are 
leaving messages and not receiving responses. Doctors’ offices that typically 
refer their patients to Greene Falls for hospice quickly become aware of the 
situation and send their patients elsewhere.

Fortunately, the organization has flood insurance, but the policy and the 
broker’s contact information are at the office. Lisa remembers the name 
of the broker, so she is able to find the insurance agent’s number online. 
A board member volunteers to find out what they need to do to start the 
process.

As chaos builds, each board member takes responsibility for addressing 
one area of the disastrous situation. Two months later — after a lot of time, 
effort, and money — the office is repaired and open for business again.

What Should the Board Have Done?
The board — as part of an overall risk management process —should have 
ensured that the organization was prepared for an emergency by taking the 
following steps:

• Determined who will coordinate the effort to acknowledge, identify, 
evaluate, and prioritize the risks the organization should address

• Ensured the creation of a business continuity plan to be tested and 
reviewed at least annually. Every organization will design its own plan, 
but some basic components should always be included:

o The process and responsibility for assessment of the business 
disruption based on the impact on personnel, physical space, 
and critical technology

o Decision making and communications about emergency 
operating plans
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o A summary of critical business functions, outage impact and 
timelines, dependencies, and standard operating procedures 
to ensure that critical functions could be handled even without 
access to personnel who typically handle those functions

o Contact information for all staff and vendors
o Critical business documentation, such as articles of 

incorporation, IRS determinations, trademarks, and bylaws

Although a plan would not have saved Greene Falls Hospice Care’s 
building from flooding, the organization would have had a much easier 
time continuing its regular operations, managing the office from behind 
the scenes while providing critical services to its clients. Every concern 
that the staff and volunteers expressed could have been much more easily 
addressed if a business continuity plan had been in place. Few, if any, existing 
clients would have missed their critical services, and Greene Falls would 
have continued to attract new ones.
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Nonprofit board members need to understand a variety of business and 
financial concepts that relate to nonprofit organizations. Some are specific 
to nonprofits, while others have a different interpretation in the nonprofit 
setting than in the for-profit world. In addition to defining terms used in 
this book, this glossary introduces other terms that board members may 
encounter as part of their financial oversight responsibilities. 

accounts payable — The amount owed to vendors and suppliers that have 
provided goods or services to an organization (for example, unpaid invoices 
that have been recorded).

accounts receivable — The amount owed to an organization for services 
rendered or goods provided on credit.

accrual accounting — The accounting method that recognizes transactions 
when they occur rather than when cash is received or paid. Contrast cash-
basis accounting.

accrued liabilities — The amount estimated to be owed to vendors or 
suppliers that have provided goods or services to the organization (for 
example, invoices that have not yet been received and recorded).

adverse opinion — See audit opinion letter.

amortization — The process of allocating the original cost or fair value of 
a long-lived intangible asset over its estimated useful life. See depreciation. 
Conceptually, depreciation and amortization are the same thing. In practice, 
depreciation is most often used with tangible assets and amortization with 
intangible assets and liabilities.

annual operating plan — A planning tool that serves as a financial 
framework outlining the organization’s goals and activities for the coming 
year in the context of its overall mission. See budget.

asset — Something of value owned or controlled by a person or 
organization.

asset ratio — See quick ratio.

audit — The procedures performed by an independent certified public 
accountant (CPA) to be able to give an opinion that an organization’s 
financial statements are fairly stated in all material (significant) respects.

audit committee — A committee of the board whose primary function is 
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to provide oversight for the audit process, including selection of the audit 
firm, review and acceptance of reports provided by external auditors, and 
communication with the auditors (both in writing and in executive session, 
without staff present).

audit opinion letter — A communication produced by the external auditors 
after their review of the organization’s financial statements for a certain 
period of time, typically one year, to express their judgment about whether 
the management-prepared financial statements are “presented fairly” in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices (U.S. GAAP) and 
accurately reflect the financial status of the nonprofit. An unmodified or 
clean opinion states that, in the auditors’ view, the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements are fairly represented and can be relied upon. 
A qualified opinion indicates the financial statements do not conform to 
U.S. GAAP in a few areas, and therefore the audit firm is unable to provide 
the highest opinion level. An adverse opinion means that in the audit firm’s 
judgment, the organization’s financial statements are not in compliance 
with U.S. GAAP. A disclaimer of opinion expresses the audit firm’s judgment 
that it is unable to form an opinion on the financial statements because 
management has not provided complete information.

average payment period ratio — The ratio measuring the average time 
that elapses before an organization’s current liabilities are paid.

bad debts — Accounts receivable that are deemed uncollectible or of 
doubtful collection.

bad-debt expense — A statement of activities account including credit sales 
that are written off as uncollectible.

balance sheet — See statement of financial position.

balanced scorecard — An integrated set of measurements that helps an 
organization track outcomes compared to goals. It uses four performance 
measures — financial perspective, customer perspective, internal 
perspective, and learning and growth — to help monitor and improve an 
organization’s level of effectiveness.

benchmarking — A process that compares ratios, trends, and analyses 
(financial and nonfinancial) of an organization with those of its peers. 

board-designated fund(s) — Resources without donor restrictions that 
the board has voted to set aside for a period of time or for a specific use. 
While the board may use the term endowment fund, because the restriction 
was set internally, the funds can be made available by the board for any use 
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at any time. Board-designated funds are correctly classified as net assets 
without donor restrictions.

bond — A certificate of debt issued by a government or corporation to raise 
money for an organization.

bonding — A type of insurance recommended to cover volunteers and 
employees who have access to the organization’s cash or other valuable 
assets. If a covered individual misuses funds, the organization will recover its 
loss from the bonding company (up to the amount of the bond).

budget — A detailed annual financial plan that anticipates and projects both 
revenues and expenses. See annual operating plan.

business continuity plan — Documented processes and procedures that 
proactively ensure the continuation of critical functions after a disaster, such 
as a terrorist attack, cyberattack, building fire, or environmental disaster. 
Also called a disaster recovery plan.

capital expenditures — Funds used to acquire long-term assets, such as 
buildings, land, and equipment.

capitalization — The process of converting an expense into an asset by 
spreading the cost of an asset over the length of time of its usefulness. 
Capitalization of a fixed asset converts an expense into a fixed asset based 
on the asset’s dollar value and useful life.

cash — Assets in the form of currency or cash equivalents that can be easily 
and quickly converted into currency.

cash-basis accounting — The accounting method that recognizes 
transactions only when cash is received or disbursed. This method does not 
comply with GAAP. Contrast accrual accounting.

cash/current — A figure that generally includes cash in bank accounts, 
cash equivalents (assets easily convertible to cash within one day, such as 
money market accounts), and certificates of deposit (if less than 365 days to 
maturity). See cash/noncurrent.

cash flow — The process of receiving and disbursing cash. Many nonprofits 
have a cyclical cash flow with a larger influx from year-end contributions or 
annual meeting fees and significantly lower receipts at other times of the 
year. Good managers of financially weaker nonprofits should be familiar 
with cash flow patterns and plan expenditures accordingly.
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cash/noncurrent — A figure that generally includes cash designated for 
capital replacement and acquisition that is invested in longer-term assets 
(such as U.S. Treasury bills or bonds) as well as trustees’ investments (cash 
set aside from bond proceeds to be used in capital projects), with maturity 
expected to exceed 365 days.

change in net assets — The excess of revenue over expenses for a given 
period of time. The equivalent of “net income.”

conditional promise to give — See promise to give. 

conflict-of-interest policy — A written document that establishes 
procedures to follow when a board or staff member’s personal interests 
conflict (or appear to conflict) with the organization’s interests. All board 
members and key employees should understand the policy and disclose 
annually on IRS Form 990 whether they have any “interests that could give 
rise to conflicts.”

consolidated financial statements — Financial statements that include 
combined financial information for two or more related entities.

contribution — An unconditional transfer of cash or other assets to 
a qualified tax-exempt organization by another person or entity (or a 
settlement or cancellation of the organization’s liabilities). Contributions 
include gifts of money, property, use of property, services of volunteers, 
unconditional promises to make gifts in the future, and bequests. Contrast 
exchange transaction.

current ratio — The ratio measuring an organization’s liquidity, or how 
readily it is able to pay off all its current liabilities.

custodial fund — Funds received and held by an organization as a fiscal 
agent for others.

dashboard report — A report that communicates critical information in a 
concise, visual format. This type of reporting enables leaders and managers 
to focus on key trends and relationships that are fundamental to the success 
of the organization.

days cash on hand ratio — The ratio measuring the number of days of 
average cash expenses that an organization maintains. It can be expressed 
either as days cash on hand in short-term sources or in all sources.

days in accounts receivable ratio — The ratio measuring the average 
time that accounts receivable are outstanding. Also known as the average 
collection period.
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debt service coverage ratio — The ratio measuring the ability of an 
organization to pay back its long-term debt by comparing its bottom-line 
cash with its annual debt service payments (principal plus interest).

deferred gift — A gift whose benefit to the nonprofit recipient is delayed 
until a later time. See split-interest gift. 

deferred revenue — Revenue received in one accounting period that, 
because it has not yet been earned (by the provision of goods or services 
to the payer), is recognized in a later accounting period when the goods or 
services are furnished. For example, a theater subscriber pays for season 
tickets in June for the season starting the following September. As of June 30, 
the theater records the revenue as deferred until the season opens.

depreciation — The process of allocating the original cost of a long-lived 
tangible asset over its estimated useful life. Conceptually, depreciation and 
amortization are the same thing. In practice, depreciation is most often used 
with tangible assets and amortization with intangible assets and liabilities. 
See amortization.

directors’ and officers’ insurance — An insurance policy that protects the 
board and officers (if acting responsibly) by covering a variety of potential 
vulnerabilities, including libel and slander, acts beyond granted authority, 
wrongful termination and/or discrimination, inefficient administration or 
waste of assets, and the like. Also referred to as D&O insurance.

disclaimer of opinion — See audit opinion letter.

disclosures — See notes to financial statements.

disqualified person — Anyone who has exerted substantial influence (not 
defined by the law) over the organization within the past five years. See 
excess benefit transaction. 

donor conditions — See promise to give.

endowment fund — An established fund of cash, securities, or other assets 
to provide income for a nonprofit organization. The use of the assets of the 
fund may be with donor restrictions or without donor restrictions (previously 
called unrestricted, temporarily restricted, and permanently restricted.). 
Such restrictions may include using income generated from the principal 
for a specific purpose or for general operations, leaving the principal intact; 
or spending the principal only after a period of time has passed or until a 
certain event has occurred. A quasi-endowment is earmarked by the board 
rather than by the donor, with no legal descriptions. See net assets.
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engagement letter — A written contract between the certified public 
accounting (CPA) firm and the organization that details both parties’ 
understanding of the relationship. Both parties should sign the letter before 
any work begins.

excess benefit transaction — A transaction in which an economic benefit 
is provided by a tax-exempt organization, directly or indirectly, to or for 
the use of a disqualified person, and the value of the benefit provided by 
the organization exceeds the value of the consideration received by the 
organization in return. See disqualified person. 

exchange transaction — A revenue transaction related to an organization’s 
provision of goods or services to customers in exchange for payment of 
approximately commensurate value. Contrast contribution.

expenses — What an organization spends to conduct its activities — for 
example, salary, office supplies, and rent.

fair value — The amount at which an asset could be bought or sold in a 
current transaction between willing parties — that is, other than in a forced 
or liquidation sale. Fair value is usually equivalent to market value.

FDIC limit — The limit on standard deposit insurance set by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), the independent federal agency that 
protects against the loss of insured deposits if an FDIC-insured bank or 
savings association fails. The current standard deposit insurance amount for 
business accounts is $250,000 per depositor per FDIC-insured bank.

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) — The private-sector body 
primarily responsible for setting generally accepted accounting principles 
(U.S. GAAP) for all nonprofit and for-profit entities other than governments.

fixed assets — Tangible property with a long-term useful life, such as land, 
land improvements, buildings, building equipment, movable equipment, 
furniture, leasehold improvements, or capitalized leases.

footnotes to financial statements — See notes to financial statements.

Form 990 — The form used to report annually to the Internal Revenue 
Service (IRS) on the financial and other activities of a tax-exempt 
organization.

functional expenses — A method of grouping expenses by the purpose for 
which they are incurred. The primary functional classifications are program, 
fundraising, and management and general. Contrast natural expenses.
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fund — An accounting entity established to track the resources of a defined 
unit of an organization, such as a project, donor-restricted gift, board-
designated pool of assets, activities in a certain geographic area, or fixed 
assets.

fund balance — The excess of assets over liabilities of a particular fund of 
an organization. See net assets.

fundraising expenses — Expenses incurred relating to efforts to secure 
contributions to the organization from donors, foundations, and others. See 
supporting expenses.

generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) — The rules that 
govern recording and reporting transactions in financial statements. In the 
United States, these principles are developed by the Financial Accounting 
Standards Board (FASB) and the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (AICPA).

generally accepted auditing standards (U.S. GAAS) — The procedures 
and standards followed by an independent certified public accountant in 
order to issue an opinion on the fairness of the presentation of financial 
statements. In the United States, these standards are set by the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

gift annuity — A contribution given on the condition that the recipient 
organization make periodic stipulated payments to the donor or another 
designated individual. After termination of the payments, the organization 
keeps the remaining principal.

gift in kind — A contribution other than cash or marketable securities, 
including property, supplies, equipment, use of property (free rent), and 
qualified donated services of volunteers.

grant — An award by a foundation, company, nonprofit organization, or 
government agency to an organization or individual. The term does not 
have a precise meaning in accounting and is often used interchangeably 
with contribution. Not all grants are contributions; some are exchange 
transactions.

income statement — See statement of activities.

in-kind donation — See gift in kind.

interest expense ratio — The ratio measuring the overall average 
percentage interest rate being paid by the organization to finance its debt.
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interest income ratio — The ratio measuring the overall average 
percentage earnings on all of the organization’s assets that have the 
potential to be invested.

intermediate sanctions — Penalties that may be imposed by the IRS 
when it finds evidence of inappropriate personal gain in a nonprofit that 
it is auditing (see private inurement). The recipient of the gain must return 
the excessive financial benefit and pay penalties, but the IRS may impose 
financial penalties on board members and managers who knowingly 
approved the transaction or contract.

internal control letter — A communication from the external auditor to 
the board that outlines deficiencies, significant deficiencies, or material 
weaknesses discovered in the organization’s internal control structure 
during the external audit. Significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 
require the board’s immediate attention and corrective action. See internal 
controls; management letter.

internal controls — Processes and procedures that protect an 
organization’s assets and promote its efficient operation, helping to ensure 
long-term stability and continuation of programs. Good controls are based 
on segregation of duties, which help ensure that no one person controls all 
aspects of a transaction from initiation through approval, handling of assets, 
and recording.

investment committee — The board committee that drafts and oversees 
investment policies, selects outside investment advisors to make individual 
investment purchase and sale decisions, and monitors the advisor’s 
activities to ensure adherence to the investment policy. If there is no 
designated investment committee, the finance committee typically assumes 
these responsibilities.

investment policy — A board-approved document that outlines an 
investment management philosophy, establishes parameters for investment 
risk and return, and defines a process for regular review of investment 
objectives and strategies. It also sets guidelines, performance objectives, 
and a performance review process for investment advisors.

joint costs — Costs incurred in an activity that includes at least two different 
types of functional expenses (most often, program and fundraising).

liabilities — The sum of an organization’s debts and obligations. Current 
liabilities are due to be paid within 365 days; long-term liabilities have a due 
date beyond 365 days.
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management and general expenses — Expenses associated with day-
to-day administrative activities, such as business management, general 
record keeping, budgeting, and finance. See functional expenses; supporting 
expenses.

management letter — A communication from the external auditor to 
the board describing issues that do not rise to the level of a significant 
deficiency or material weakness but represent opportunities for the 
organization to strengthen its systems of internal control. It may be issued or 
combined with the internal control letter.

management representation letter — A communication from senior 
management to the independent audit firm. It lets management declare in 
writing that the financial statements and other presentations to the auditor 
are sufficient and appropriate and without omission of material facts to the 
financial statements, to the best of the management’s knowledge.

natural expenses — A method of grouping expenses by type, such as 
personnel, occupancy, travel, supplies, and professional fees. Contrast 
functional expenses.

net assets — The excess of assets over liabilities of a fund or an entire 
organization. For fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, net assets 
are reported in two classes. Net assets without donor restrictions (previously 
called unrestricted assets) are available for general use. Net assets with donor 
restrictions (previously called restricted assets) may be temporary until they 
are used for their intended purpose of spent within a stated time period, 
or they may be permanent, as in an endowment fund for with the original 
principal must remain intact.

net assets with donor restrictions — See endowment fund; net assets.

net assets without donor restrictions — See endowment fund; net assets.

net margin ratio — The ratio measuring profitability based on all revenues, 
including non-operating revenues such as investment income.

Nonprofit Audit Guide — Collection of generally accepted accounting 
principles (U.S. GAAP) and other authoritative guidance for nonprofit 
organizations, issued and revised periodically by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

nonprofit organization — A group that usually exists to fulfill a charitable, 
humanitarian, or educational purpose. No part of its income is distributed 
to its members, directors, or officers. Also called not-for-profit organization. 
See tax-exempt organization.
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nonreciprocal transfer — A transaction in which an entity incurs a liability 
or transfers an asset to another entity (or receives an asset or cancellation 
of a liability) without directly receiving (or giving) value in exchange. See 
contribution.

notes to financial statements — Addenda that may describe a nonprofit’s 
programs, accounting and financial policies, affiliated organization 
investments, property and equipment, lease commitments, contingent 
liabilities, long-term debts and leases, joint cost allocations, related-party 
transactions, pension plans, temporarily and permanently restricted assets, 
and any significant subsequent events. U.S. GAAP requires some notes, such 
as the first note on all financial statements, which summarizes significant 
accounting policies used in the creation of the accounting books and 
records. Also known as footnotes to financial statements and/or disclosures.

OMB Circular A–133 — A previous publication of the U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget explaining the requirement that nonprofit 
organizations spending $750,000 or more of federal grants and contracts in 
one fiscal year have a special audit of those federal funds. The requirement 
for this audit has been replaced with the term Uniform Guidance Single Audit, 
Subpart F, most commonly known as a single audit. See single audit.

operating margin — The excess or deficit of revenues over expenses. See 
change in net assets.

operating margin ratio — The ratio measuring profitability by comparing 
an organization’s bottom line (the excess of support and revenues over 
expenses) to its total revenues.

operational reserves — See reserves.

plant fund — An accounting unit used by some organizations to record 
transactions related to land, buildings, vehicles, and equipment. See fund.

pledge — See promise to give.

prepaid expense — An expense paid in one accounting period for which the 
benefit is not received until a future accounting period after the benefit of 
the expense is received.

private inurement — Improper receipt of a financial benefit by an insider 
to a nonprofit organization. Insiders include board members and senior 
management, close members of their families, and other organizations 
with which they are connected. Illegal under Section 501(c) of the Internal 
Revenue Code, private inurement can lead to financial penalties against both 
the receiver of the benefit and those in the organization who authorized the 
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benefit (see intermediate sanctions). It may also cause the loss of tax-exempt 
status.

program expenses — Expenses that directly or indirectly support specific 
activities constituting an organization’s mission or purpose.

promise to give — A promise from a donor to contribute cash or another 
type of asset to a nonprofit organization. It can be oral or written, but it is 
typically not recorded in the financial statements without written support 
or documentation from the donor. A donor who makes an unconditional 
promise to give has no right to return of the asset. A conditional promise 
to give is contingent on the occurrence of a future or uncertain event and 
should not be recorded until the condition has been substantially met, but it 
should be disclosed in the financial statement notes. Also called a pledge.

qualified opinion — See audit opinion letter.

quasi-endowment fund — See endowment fund.

quick ratio — The ratio measuring an organization’s ability to meet 
short-term obligations from its most liquid, or quick, assets. It compares 
assets that are quickly and easily convertible into cash (such as cash, cash 
equivalents, and accounts receivable) to the organization’s current liabilities. 
Also called asset ratio.

registered agent — A responsible third party who is a resident of the state 
designated by the organization to receive and send official papers for the 
organization. Organizations must have a registered agent in each state 
in which they are registered to do business. Sometimes referred to as a 
resident agent.

related party transactions — A transaction between two parties in which 
one party can directly or indirectly exercise control over or significantly 
influence the other party. Nonprofits serve the public interest, not private 
interests, so  they must avoid related-party transactions. 

reserves — Resources currently available to an organization to use in any 
way it chooses (presumed to be limited to activities consistent with its 
mission). Reserves should be available to be spent in a time of need, so the 
figure should not include illiquid assets such as land and buildings, nor be 
reduced for such long-term debts as mortgages.

return on net assets ratio — The ratio measuring profitability based on net 
revenues by comparing a nonprofit’s excess of support and revenues over 
expenses to its unrestricted net assets.
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revenue — Technically, revenue is income from providing goods or services 
to clients, patrons, members, and other customers and from other activities 
such as investments. Practically, revenue frequently includes both earned 
income (from exchange transactions) and income from contributions.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act — A U.S. law requiring that nonprofit organizations 
have and ensure compliance with policies that prohibit retaliation against 
whistleblowers and prohibit alteration or destruction of documents that are 
relevant to a lawsuit or regulatory proceeding. While primarily applicable 
to public companies, Sarbanes-Oxley also sets forth good practices for all 
organizations, such as having an audit committee (with at least one financial 
expert) that is fully responsible for the relationship with the external auditor.

single audit — A rigorous, organization-wide audit or examination that is 
required by the federal government of nonprofit organizations that expend 
more than $750,000 in one fiscal year. It combines an audit of the federal 
funds used with an audit of the financial statements. Failure to submit a 
single audit can have a variety of adverse effects on an organization.

spending rate — One method of computing the amount of investment 
return to be considered as available for current use. See total return 
approach.

split-interest gift — A gift in which the benefit of the resources involved is 
split between the donor (or other designated person) and a charity. Includes 
gift annuities, remainder trusts (annuity trusts and unitrusts), lead trusts, and 
pooled income funds.

statement of activities — A compilation of an organization’s revenues and 
expenses. It also shows the excess or deficit of revenues over expenses and 
the change in net assets. One of four financial statements required by U.S. 
GAAP. Also known as an income statement.

statement of cash flows — A statement reporting the sources and uses 
of the organization’s short-term cash and cash equivalents for the period 
concurrent with the statement of activities. It is a summary of where the 
organization’s cash came from and how it was used. One of four financial 
statements required by U.S. GAAP.

statement of financial position — A statement representing and displaying 
all of an organization’s financial assets, liabilities, and net assets as a 
snapshot in time, usually the end of an accounting period (month, quarter, or 
year). It conforms to the following equation: assets = liabilities + net assets. 
One of four financial statements required by U.S. GAAP. Also known as the 
balance sheet.

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Audit


FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    103

Glossary of Financial Terms

statement of functional expenses — A statement displaying all income and 
expenditures according to their primary functional classifications: program, 
management and general, and fundraising. One of four financial statements 
required by U.S. GAAP.

stipulation — An expression by a donor, in connection with a contribution 
or a promise to make a contribution, that constitutes a condition, a 
restriction, or both. See promise to give.

Subpart F of the Uniform Guidance — The replacement of OMB A–133 
guidance created for use in auditing federal programs. See OMB Circular 
A–133.

supporting expenses — Expenses other than program expenses. See 
fundraising expenses; management and general expenses.

tax-exempt organization — An organization that is exempt from one or 
more federal, state, or local taxes, most commonly income taxes. Often 
erroneously used interchangeably with not-for-profit or nonprofit; the two 
terms have different meanings, although in practice, they overlap.

term endowment — See endowment fund.

total fundraising net — The ration measuring the efficiency of a nonprofit’s 
fundraising programs by comparing the amount spent on fundraising to how 
much it receives in contribution and grant revenue. Also called fundraising 
ratio.

total return approach — A method of managing endowment assets in 
which a portion of capital gains is made available for current use under a 
formula approved by an organization’s governing board.

treasurer — The board officer who oversees financial operations. In 
most nonprofits, the treasurer has legal responsibility for custody of the 
organization’s funds and securities, keeping full and accurate account of 
all financial records and providing periodic reports to the board. In small 
organizations, the treasurer may have hands-on responsibilities; in large 
organizations, the treasurer remains legally responsible for these functions 
even though a staff member performs them.

trending — The display and analysis of data or information over time.

unconditional promise to give — See promise to give.

unrelated business revenue — Revenue from a trade or business 
conducted by a tax-exempt organization that is not substantially related to 
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the purposes for which the organization is exempt, as defined in IRS Code 
Sections 512 and 513. Net income from such a business is taxable.

unmodified opinion — See audit opinion letter.

whistleblower — A board member, staff member, former staff member, 
volunteer, or member of an organization who makes a good-faith effort to 
disclose improper activities to those who have the power to take corrective 
action. The misconduct may be a violation of state or federal law, rule, 
or regulation; theft or misuse of organization funds; gross misconduct or 
inefficiency; or any condition that may significantly threaten the health or 
safety of employees or the public.

whistleblower policy — A policy safeguarding and encouraging board 
members, staff, and volunteers to come forward with credible information 
on illegal practices or violations of the organization’s adopted policies.

zero-based budgeting — An approach that uses no prior-year assumptions 
in building the budget. Expenses must be justified for the budget period.
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The Board’s Role in Reviewing Form 990: A Checklist

All tax-exempt organizations must report annually to the IRS on their 
financial and other activities — including their governance activities. 
They do this by filing a Form 990, Return of Organization Exempt from 
Income Tax.

Many organizations provide a CPA or legal counsel with the pertinent 
information and then rely on them to complete the form. Regardless of who 
completes the form, however, all organizations should ensure that the chief 
executive and either the board chair or the chair of the audit (or finance/
audit committee) committee examines it closely prior to filing. As fiduciaries, 
all board members also should be familiar with it. In Part VI, Section A of the 
form, the IRS asks whether the board receives a copy and what its review 
process is.

To help your board review the completed form, BoardSource provides the 
following checklist pertaining to governance. If your board members flag any 
of the items on the checklist, address them before filing the form with the 
IRS. When reviewing the form, keep the following in mind:

• Is it accurate? Form 990 serves as introduction to your organization and 
is reviewed by the IRS, your constituents, donors, and the media. You do 
not want to share inaccurate information.

• Are you meeting legal requirements? The IRS recognizes your tax-
exempt status. Form 990 allows the IRS to verify that your organization 
meets the expectations and deserves its special status.

• “No” answers may raise red or yellow flags in the eyes of the IRS. 
They may lead to a heightened audit profile. Are there justified reasons 
for your “no” answers? Have you explained the reasons sufficiently in 
Schedule O?

• Have you done your due diligence in justifying various 
interdependencies and relationships among your insiders or individuals 
or entities with which your organization does business?

• Are those who are compensated for services truly earning their 
compensation? Familiarize yourself with the IRS’s intermediate 
sanctions and safe harbor clauses and follow them to protect yourself 
and your organization.

https://www.irs.gov/uac/About-Schedule-O-%28Form-990-or-990EZ%29
https://www.irs.gov/Charities-%26-Non-Profits/Charitable-Organizations/Intermediate-Sanctions-Excess-Benefit-Transactions
https://www.irs.gov/Charities-%26-Non-Profits/Charitable-Organizations/Intermediate-Sanctions-Excess-Benefit-Transactions
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YES

 
NO

LIST OF BOARD MEMBERS

The IRS requires you to list the names and titles 
of all board members and officers, whether or not 
compensation is provided. Have you done so and is the 
information correct?

 

NUMBER OF VOTING MEMBERS

The IRS wants to know the size of your decision-making 
body/board. Do not include ex-officio non-voting 
members in this number. If your chief executive is a voting 
member, you must add him or her to this number.  Is this 
number correct?

 

INDEPENDENCE OF BOARD MEMBERS

The IRS wants to ensure that your voting board members 
are independent as it pertains to three conditions: 1) 
No compensation as an officer or employee of the 
organization; 2) No (or less than $10,000) compensation as 
a contractor to the organization or a related organization; 
3) No other financial transactions directly with the 
organization or a related organization or to a family 
member with the organization or a related organization. 
Are your board members independent?

 

COMPENSATION OF BOARD MEMBERS, OFFICERS, 
AND KEY EMPLOYEES

Compensation is of primary concern to the IRS. Above 
all, it wants to ensure that no tax-exempt organization 
is involved in private inurement, undue or excessive 
remuneration for services not provided, or that decisions 
related to financial transactions are made by insiders who 
have a conflict of interest in the outcome.

Do your board members serve as volunteers without 
compensation? If they are compensated, is it reported? If 
you compensated any former board members more than 
$10,000, did you report it? After five years, one is no longer 
a “former board member.”

 



FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT BOARDS    107

Appendix 

 
YES

 
NO

Have you reported any “key” employees* earning more than 
$150,000? (Your CEO and COO are not key employees; 
they are considered officers of the organization.)

 

Have you reported any non-key employees earning more 
than $100,000?  
If you compensated any independent contractors more than 
$100,000, have you reported it?  
If you compensated any former officers or any former key 
employees more than $100,000, did you report it?  
COMPENSATION PROCESS

The IRS focuses on the process of determining 
compensation for the chief executive and other key 
individuals.

Is your board adhering to the intermediate sanctions’ safe 
harbor clauses?

 

Do you rely on comparable data when setting 
compensation?  
Do independent individuals approve the compensation 
for top management?  
Does the board keep accurate and contemporaneous 
records of how it makes compensation decisions?  
LOANS

The IRS wants to ensure that the board is an independent 
body that makes decisions for the good of the 
organization without weighing in personal benefits.

Did the organization refrain from providing loans, grants, or 
other financial assistance to board members, officers, or key 
employees?
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YES

 
NO

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

If your board delegates part of its authority to an executive 
or similar committee, have you described the composition 
of this group and the scope of its authority in Schedule O?

 

If any board decisions are subject to approval by 
members, stockholders, or other persons, have you 
reported this?

 

BOARD PRACTICES

Did your board members refrain from engaging in direct or 
indirect campaign activities on behalf of or in opposition to 
candidates for public office or engage in lobbying?

 

Did the board and each committee with authority to act 
on behalf of the board contemporaneously document the 
meetings held or written actions undertaken during the 
year?

 

Does the organization have members, stockholders, or 
other persons who may elect one or more members of 
the board, and if so, is it reported?

 

BOARD POLICIES

Do you have a written conflict-of interest (COI) policy, 
are board members and key staff required to disclose 
interests that could lead to conflict, and are these 
situations monitored and enforced? Do you share your 
COI policy (as well as your governing and financial 
statements and Form 990) with the public?

 

Does the organization have a written whistleblower policy 
and document retention and destruction policy?  
Did the organization make any significant changes to its 
articles of incorporation or bylaws since the prior Form 990 
was filed and, if so, are they explained in Schedule O?

 

Does the organization have a gift acceptance policy that 
requires the review of any non-standard contributions?  
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YES

 
NO

FINANCES

Are any assets held in term, permanent, or quasi-
endowments reported?

 

Did the organization receive an audited financial 
statement for the year for which it is completing this 
return that was prepared in accordance with GAAP?

 

Were the organization’s financial statements compiled 
or reviewed by an independent accountant? If “Yes,” 
does the organization have a committee that assumes 
responsibility for oversight of the audit, review, or 
compilation of its financial statements and selection of an 
independent accountant?

 

Are any non-cash contributions to the organization 
valued more than $25,000 — or any contributions of art, 
historical treasures, or other similar assets, or qualified 
conservation contributions — reported?

 

Is any unrelated business income of $1,000 or more 
reported?  
If the organization invested in, contributed to, or 
participated in a joint venture or similar arrangement 
with a taxable entity during the year, has the organization 
adopted a written policy or procedure requiring the 
organization to evaluate its participation under applicable 
federal tax law, and taken steps to safeguard the 
organization’s exempt status with respect to such an 
arrangement?

 

MISSION AND PROGRAMS

Have you accurately and succinctly described your 
mission?

 

If you made any significant changes to your programs — 
adding, ending, or altering how you deliver your programs 
— have you explained them in Schedule O?

 

Have you accurately described the achievements for your 
three largest program services by revenue?  
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YES

 
NO

If you have chapters, branches, or affiliates, do you have 
written policies and procedures governing their activities 
to ensure consistency with the organization?

 

*Who is a key employee? A key employee meets the following tests:

• Received annual compensation in excess of $150,000.
• Has responsibilities, powers, or influences over the organization that 

are similar to that held by an officer (e.g., CEO, CFO, COO) or a board 
member.

• Manages a discrete segment or activity that represents 10 percent or 
more of the organization’s activities, assets, income, or expenses.

• Has or shares the authority to control or determine 10 percent of the 
organization’s capital expenditures, operating budget, or compensation 
for employees.

• Is one of the top 20 employees who pass the $150,000 and responsibility 
tests.
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RECOMMENDED RESOURCES
Visit BoardSource.org to view, download, or purchase resources.

LEARN MORE ABOUT NONPROFIT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND IRS 
REQUIREMENTS
American Institute of CPAs (AICPA) Nonprofit Resources  
https://www.aicpa.org/interestareas/notforprofit.html

Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Nonprofit Resources  
https://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/BridgePage&cid=1351027226246

Internal Revenue Service, Tax Information for Charities and Other Non-Profits 
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits

CHAPTER 1: FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES OF NONPROFIT 
BOARD MEMBERS
The Accountable Board
Board Member Independence
The Board’s Role in Supervising Investments and Three Must-Dos
The Business Professional’s Guide to Nonprofit Board Service: Leveraging Your 
Talents for the Social Sector
Dissolving a Nonprofit
Financial and Fundraising Issues: FAQs
Financial Constraints at Nonprofits
How Nonprofit and For-Profit Boards Compare
Nonprofit Board Committees: Financial Committees
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Implications for Nonprofit Organizations 
Who Handles the Finances?

CHAPTER 2: BUDGETS AND FORECASTS
Budget Development
Developing Diverse Income Streams
Discussing Overhead Expenses in the Boardroom
Eleven Key Ingredients of Growth
Nonprofit Business Plan
Nonprofit Operating Reserves

http://BoardSource.org
https://www.aicpa.org/interestareas/notforprofit.html
https://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/BridgePage&cid=1351027226246
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits
https://boardsource.org/resources/the-accountable-board/
https://boardsource.org/resources/board-member-independence/
https://boardsource.org/resources/supervising-investments-boards-role-three-must-dos/
https://boardsource.org/product/business-professionals-guide-nonprofit-board-service/
https://boardsource.org/product/business-professionals-guide-nonprofit-board-service/
https://boardsource.org/resources/dissolving-a-nonprofit/
https://boardsource.org/resources/financial-fundraising-issues-faqs/
https://boardsource.org/resources/financial-constraints/
https://boardsource.org/resources/how-nonprofit-and-for-profit-boards-compare/
https://boardsource.org/product/nonprofit-board-financial-committees/
https://boardsource.org/resources/sarbanes-oxley-act-implications-nonprofits/
https://boardsource.org/resources/handles-finances/
https://boardsource.org/resources/budget-development/
https://boardsource.org/resources/developing-diverse-income-streams/
https://boardsource.org/resources/discussing-overhead-expenses-boardroom/
https://boardsource.org/11-key-ingredients-of-growth/
https://boardsource.org/resources/nonprofit-business-plan/
https://boardsource.org/resources/operating-reserves/
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The Pursuit of Sustainability
Seven Questions to Ask When Reviewing the Annual Budget

CHAPTER 3: NONPROFIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial Ratios
The Nonprofit Dashboard: Using Metrics to Drive Mission Success 
Measuring Fundraising Effectiveness: Why Cost of Fundraising Isn’t Enough 
Red Flags, Yellow Flags: Are Your Financial Statements Trying to Tell You 
Something?
Ten Common Benefits of Dashboard Reports
Unrelated Business Income Tax
Welcome to Your Key Financial Statements: A Primer for Nonprofit Board 
Members

CHAPTER 4: AUDIT AND IRS FORM 990 OVERSIGHT
Auditing Your Nonprofit
The Board’s Role in Reviewing Form 990: A Checklist
BoardSource Recommended Governance Practices 
Disqualified Individual
Governance in Form 990
Intermediate Sanctions
Leading with Intent: 2017 National Index of Nonprofit Board Practices 
Nonprofit Public Disclosure Requirements and the Form 990
Private Benefit, Private Inurement, and Self-Dealing
Stand for Your Mission: Creating Positive Change Through Board Advocacy 
Three Audit Committee Must-Dos

CHAPTER 5: RISK MANAGEMENT OVERSIGHT
Avoiding Financial Risks
Avoiding Personal Liability
Crisis Communications: Four Things Your Board Needs to Know
Identifying and Managing Risk
Insurance and Risk Management
Internal Controls
Leading with Intent: 2017 National Index of Nonprofit Board Practices 

https://boardsource.org/resources/pursuit-of-nonprofit-sustainability/
https://boardsource.org/resources/7-questions-ask-reviewing-annual-budget/
https://boardsource.org/resources/financial-ratios/
https://boardsource.org/product/nonprofit-dashboard-using-metrics-drive-mission-success/
https://boardsource.org/research-critical-issues/measuring-fundraising-effectiveness/
https://boardsource.org/financial-statement-flags/
https://boardsource.org/financial-statement-flags/
https://boardsource.org/10-common-benefits-dashboard-reporting/
https://boardsource.org/resources/unrelated-business-income-tax-ubit/
https://boardsource.org/product/financial-statements-primer/
https://boardsource.org/product/financial-statements-primer/
https://boardsource.org/resources/auditing-your-nonprofit/
https://boardsource.org/form-990-checklist/
https://boardsource.org/recommended-board-practices/
https://boardsource.org/resources/disqualified-individual/
https://boardsource.org/resources/governance-form-990/
https://boardsource.org/resources/intermediate-sanctions/
https://leadingwithintent.org/
https://boardsource.org/resources/nonprofit-public-disclosure-form-990/
https://boardsource.org/resources/private-benefit-private-inurement-self-dealing/
https://standforyourmission.org/
https://boardsource.org/resources/3-audit-committee-must-dos/
https://boardsource.org/resources/avoiding-financial-risks/
https://boardsource.org/resources/avoiding-personal-liability/
https://boardsource.org/crisis-communications/
https://boardsource.org/identifying-and-managing-risk/
https://boardsource.org/resources/insurance-risk-management/
https://boardsource.org/resources/internal-controls/
https://leadingwithintent.org/
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Recommended Resources

The Power of Possibility: Exploring Greater Impact Through Strategic 
Partnerships 
Risk Management
Why Is D&O Insurance Important?

CHAPTER 6: POLICIES AND PROCEDURES
Accepting or Refusing Gifts
Board Member Compensation
Board Member Loans
Board Members as Providers of Professional Services
Creating Nonprofit Policies
e-Policy Sampler: Ethics and Accountability
e-Policy Sampler: Finance and Investments
e-Policy Sampler: Personnel Policies
Internal Controls
Legal and Compliance Issues: FAQs
Managing Conflicts of Interest: The Board’s Guide to Unbiased Decision Making

https://www.thepowerofpossibility.org/
https://www.thepowerofpossibility.org/
https://boardsource.org/resources/risk-management/
https://boardsource.org/resources/directors-officers-insurance/
https://boardsource.org/resources/accepting-refusing-gifts/
https://boardsource.org/resources/board-member-compensation/
https://boardsource.org/resources/board-member-loans/
https://boardsource.org/resources/board-members-providers-professional-services/
https://boardsource.org/resources/creating-policies/
https://boardsource.org/product/epolicy-sampler-ethics-accountability/
https://boardsource.org/product/epolicy-sampler-finance-and-investments/
https://boardsource.org/product/personnel-policies-epolicy-sampler/
https://boardsource.org/resources/internal-controls/
https://boardsource.org/resources/legal-compliance-issues-faqs/
https://boardsource.org/product/managing-conflicts-interest/
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